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   1631.  CHAIRMAN:  Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  We understand that Mr Howes wishes to make a concluding statement on behalf of the last Petitioner, Mollie Howes.  I hope, Mr Howes, you can keep it brief because we have got a full programme for today, but I invite you to make a short statement.
   1632.  MR HOWES:  Thank you, my Lord Chairman.  My mother talked about the statistics for the deaths and fires on the Broads and I think she made a strong case to say that safety issues requiring legislation are unproven.  Just how much effort should we go to to save one or two lives which individually, of course, are tragedies and reduce boat fires when the legislation does not have a direct impact on these things and when almost one half of the boats who have had fires in the last two years already had boat safety certificates?
   1633.  My mother is against the inclusion of adjacent waters and, if I might just explain for a moment, when she talked about the possibility of the Marine Navigation Bill she was not referring to that Bill particularly but merely that the extension of adjacent waters to other parts of the Broads renders them liable to other legislation such as what might be proposed.

   1634.  Mr George attempted to say that my mother’s quoting of the financial statistics for the Authority’s meeting last September was incorrect.  I understand his point, but, if I might just explain to the Committee, those accounts are separated into four elements: item A, corporate services, item B, countryside management, item C, planning and strategy, and item D, waterways.  We accept Mr George’s point that some of the salaries listed under “waterways” are for the general account but it does seem to us a little bit strange because where salaries are quoted under “waterways” you would think they were for the navigation account.  It appears that the accounting is, shall we say, less than completely transparent today and that makes us very much more sensitive about what the accounts might look like tomorrow.

   1635.  Mrs Howes is against the increasing role of the whole Authority in navigation matters and would prefer that the Navigation Committee retains some of its original executive functions even if it then delegates those to officers.  She talked about the changes to the Navigation Committee.  That happened last year.  Mr George then questioned my mother on the process used in the outcomes.  The point at issue here is not that the outcome was necessarily better or worse but merely that the Authority had signed a side agreement with the Royal Yachting Association and British Marine Federation last year to consult the Navigation Committee before any such changes were made and then appears to have ignored that agreement.
   1636.  I note that at the end of her submission Mrs Howes referred to a couple of safety issues.  One was that the Authority appeared to be rather slow at dealing with a particular matter where some boats were holed, and the second one was that the navigation officer should be properly qualified.  I cannot say anything more than that other Petitioners are also saying similar things and that I note in particular that that last point will be followed up by another Petition.  Thank you, my Lords.

   1637.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much, Mr Howes.  Could we please clear the room now so that we can deliberate about the two Petitions we heard on Friday?

   1638.  MR GEORGE:  My Lord, before you clear the room, you did invite me to come back on the question of Breydon Water.  I am very happy to come back after your adjournment but I just wondered at what stage you would wish to hear me on that matter.

   1639.  CHAIRMAN:  Shall we hear it now?  (Agreed)  Yes, please.

   1640.  MR GEORGE:  Could I ask that there be circulated a note, “Control of Breydon Water”?  (Same handed)  This matter arose on last Thursday’s transcript at page 52, paragraph 1521.  You invited me to come back.  This note sets out what the position will be for controls on Breydon Water.  Perhaps there are three particular matters to which I should draw your Lordships’ attention.  The first is that whereas tab 18 in the bundle had referred to “closures”, and that was the matter, my Lord, Lord Trimble, drew attention to, those closures in the first place had not been by the port authority under any form of directions and, secondly, they were not complete closures; they were advisory closures, as indeed Mrs Wakelin said at Day Three, pages 43-44, paragraph 925, as referred to in page 3 of the note.  They were occasions where the rangers had said to people that it would be unwise to go through and they had not gone through but they were not technically formal closures.

   1641.  The second additional matter to mention is not actually in the note but may be of some help to your Lordships, and that is to know that as a vessel is proceeding towards Breydon Water it goes past Reedham Quay, which is about five miles upstream, and the aim would be that notification would be given at that  point if in practice people were to be strongly urged not to go through Breydon Water.  If they were coming from the north down the River Bure there is not such a convenient point but there is a point about 400 metres north at the Great Yarmouth Yacht Station and again there would be notices displayed there.  There are mooring points available at both those places and there is also another mooring point much closer to Breydon Water for those coming along the Yare, so that provision is made for those people.
   1642.  The last matter related to this is that my Lord, Lord Brougham and Vaux raised the question of vessels travelling at night and the potential danger to them.  What I should have made clear to him was that under the navigation byelaws vessels travelling at night need certain types of lights and it happens that none of the hired craft meets those lighting specifications so that in regard to the hired craft, which, as your Lordships were given evidence on, the substantial majority of the vessels will not be sailing at night in any event.  I ought to have made that clear.  Those are the points.

   1643.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much, Mr George.

   1644.  LORD TRIMBLE:  The points at which you said that notification could be given – I wonder if you could give me just a little bit more detail on that.  I am not familiar with the locations that you mentioned, so perhaps you can indicate where they are, we have a map, and just as to whether they are suited for --- the shape of those points.

   1645.  MR GEORGE:  The first is a point which I will just identify to you.  Reedham Quay is just at the top of the Haddiscoe Cut, with which your Lordships will be familiar, on the plan at 1B.  If your Lordship sees where the Haddiscoe Cut joins the River Yare, in the vicinity there one has Reedham Quay.

   1646.  LORD TRIMBLE:  Yes; that is several miles away from Breydon.

   1647.  MR GEORGE:  That is why I said that that one is five miles away, which is in a way beneficial because it means that if you know it is going to happen you can give people lots of warning and there is provision for mooring at that point.  If you have passed through there there is no very obvious point for what I may call a bankside notice, but if you do reach Breydon Water, where there would be a ranger in these circumstances, and if you were at that point notified that it was dangerous, there is provision at that point also where you could moor somewhere.  There is a public house called The Berni Arms and close to that there are moorings, so you are not, in other words, in a desperate situation.

   1648.  LORD TRIMBLE:  How is the notification given during night or in fog?

   1649.  MR GEORGE:  As I said, so far as the majority of craft are concerned they will not be travelling at night because of the reason which I have just mentioned.  So far as the other vessels are concerned, if the conditions were so unsafe the plan, as I understand it, would be to have a ranger there, for the very obvious reason that one could not be sure that someone would be able to see the notice, but the provision will be precisely the same as is the situation at the present time.  If, on the other hand, you are coming down the River Bure – and your Lordships will see the River Bure on that same plan which comes down to the other end, as it were, the eastern end of Breydon Water – you will go past the Great Yarmouth Yacht Station and that is where there are moorings and again where notices will be displayed.  It is not anticipated that night is likely to be the critical period but, as indicated, there could be general directions specifying the conditions  for travelling through Breydon Water.
   1650.  LORD TRIMBLE:  That is the other point I was going to make, because you said that the present arrangements are only advisory closures and you are talking about giving advice; you are not asserting a power to close.

   1651.  MR GEORGE:  In the past there has been a power to close which lies with Great Yarmouth Port Authority, and so far as the Broads Authority is concerned it has not had any powers to close but it has exercised a ranger function and it has given advice, and the effect of that advice was shown in the table which indicated that in practice people seemed to have accepted the advice and it was recorded as a closure.  For the future there are going to be the various powers, which are set out in the note which I have given in, both to give general directions and to give special directions.

   1652.  LORD TRIMBLE:  In order to form a better judgment on this I think it would be desirable to see what is the express power that Yarmouth have to close.

   1653.  MR GEORGE:  Their powers to give general directions and special directions are almost identical to the powers which we are seeking in this Bill for ourselves.  In other words, they have a broad range and we could pass to your Lordships a copy of the provisions of the Great Yarmouth Port Authority Act which gives them those powers.

   1654.  LORD TRIMBLE:  The reason why I am pressing on this is that I am not convinced that the general and special directions do give you a power to close.

   1655.  MR GEORGE:  My Lord, if first of all that document could be circulated, which is the section of the Act, (Same handed), if one then turns to the general directions, which is Clause 4 of the Bill, as far as Clause 4(2)(a) is concerned you can give a general direction designating an area which is not to be used, and, most clearly in the case of most vessels, you have got the power under 4(2)(e)(ii) to prohibit entry into “… any channel during any temporary obstruction …”, under (e)(i) you have a power to prohibit entry, and under (f), again, you have got the particular power to prohibit entry in times of poor visibility.
   1656.  LORD TRIMBLE:  On 4(2)(f), it talks about “poor visibility due to the weather or to the presence of dust or smoke, or at times of high winds”.  That is analogous to the situation that has been encountered in Breydon Water in terms of fog and sea state, and it does clearly say “prohibiting”, and because of the precision of 4(2)(d) it seems to me that you cannot then really read 4(2)(b) or (e) as giving a power to prohibit.  Then 4(2)(f), which does give a power to prohibit, cannot apply to any pleasure craft, so I think that you are in difficulty in showing that there is a clear power to close.  Certainly it is open to you to give advice and say to people that it is dangerous to proceed, but I am not sure that you have a power to close.
   1657.  I have not had a chance to read these extracts from the Great Yarmouth Port Authority but I wonder if you could point to me where is the provision of the Great Yarmouth Port Authority?

   1658.  MR GEORGE:  First of all, your Lordship is entirely right because the effect of 4(4) is you cannot use it for any pleasure craft.  The important thing is that, so far as weather conditions, save in an emergency it is unlikely you would be using a general direction; you would be making a special direction in that circumstance, which will bring you into Clause 6, and in an emergency a direction under Clause 6, that is a special direction, can be given to all vessels, and a direction given under Clause 6 can regulate, for instance, the time and manner in which any vessel can enter and regulate a whole variety of matters, and it is believed, and I would say, that one could use a special direction there both aimed at an individual vessel, or as a generality at all vessels in an emergency to regulate the usage of Breydon Water in those circumstances.

   1659.  CHAIRMAN:  Lord Trimble, could I just ask Mr George for some clarification in relation to this subject?  I recall previously when we were discussing Schedule 1 you gave an estimate of the time it would take to obtain a general direction.  Could you just remind the Committee ‑‑

   1660.  MR GEORGE:  A non‑emergency general direction is going to require a considerable amount of time because it has to be a consultative process and it, therefore, is no good for a particular situation which has blown up unless it is in a general form which specifies certain weather conditions in which, let us say, Breydon Water is to be closed.  So that is something which could be worked on and you could have a general direction which specified the wind forces, for instance, or the conditions, but that is going to take some time.

   1661.  Then you also have your emergency general directions as well as special directions and in particular special directions made in an emergency, and a special direction in an emergency can apply to all vessels.

   1662.  CHAIRMAN:  Sorry, Lord Trimble.  I interrupted you. 

   1663.  LORD TRIMBLE:  I would be much comfortable with that if it was expressed, explicit.  It is not explicit and that bothers me, particularly when you compare it with the other provisions that are so reluctant to actually say “close”, and in none of these provisions does the word “closure” actually appear. 

   1664.  MR GEORGE:  The real situation is to be able to require the use of motive power of any vessel, and probably that is going to be the key.  If someone is going to go through without motor power and wind conditions are such that you really do need motor power, and plainly under Clause 6(1)(n) there is a power to make a special direction requiring the use of motive power.  Now, that is not the same as a total closure and, of course, we are anxious in general not to be using our powers so that they completely interfere with people sailing: we are only concerned with trying to make sure that people can proceed in a safe manner.  That is the way that the provisions in the Bill have been directed.  

   1665.  We have discovered, and your Lordships have heard, that the boating interests, in particular the pleasure boating interests, are very concerned that powers to achieve closures should be very severely restricted, and that is why you cannot have a general direction achieving a closure.  That is the result of Clause 4(4) which has been inserted at the request of the yachting interests. 

   1666.  LORD TRIMBLE:  I have a recollection, with regard to Clause 6(1)(n), that the provision about the use of motive power would only apply to vessels that had motive power, and would not apply to purely sailing vessels.  

   1667.  MR GEORGE:  That is right.

   1668.  LORD TRIMBLE:  I take your point at the end about the sensitivity of closure, which is why I am going round this issue, because if it is envisaged at any time that you would want for reasons of safety in Breydon Water to close it then I do think you would be best to have that explicit and not rely on things which are not explicit and on which, in the context of the Bill and in the context of the safeguards you put in with regard to closure, it is a bit difficult to make the argument, I think. 

   1669.  MR GEORGE:  My trouble is I am not able to extend the scope of the Bill by adding further provisions at this stage.  Your Lordships have a power to limit what we are seeking but, if there are additional powers which would be more severe in their impact, we have a power under 6(1)(b) to make a direction regulating the time at which and the manner in which any vessel may enter or navigate, so we have that power, but we are not able at this stage to increase that power, as I understand it. 

   1670.  LORD TRIMBLE:  Thank you for the note and the comments.  I think it is best that I reflect, in fact that we all reflect, on this.

   1671.  CHAIRMAN:  However, Lord Trimble, before we leave that, and I know Lord Methuen wants to come in, do you want Mr George to explain the Great Yarmouth Port Authority paper we have just been given?

   1672.  LORD TRIMBLE:  Yes, if there is any comment he wants to make on that. 

   1673.  MR GEORGE:  Clause 15(1), your Lordships will see, is remarkably similar to our Clause 4 in respect of general directions to vessels, but they do not have our Schedule 1 which has got all the protections for the various interests and, so far as Section 16 of the Act, that specifies the circumstance for special directions, and those are the key provisions about special directions which are contained within our Clause 6, and, again, the words used are “regulating and requiring” notwithstanding that one is in a rather more dangerous port facility, nearer the sea, but again it has been expressed in the similar language in which we have expressed it, and had we come to Parliament seeking powers which were in stronger language than that we might have been open to criticism on that fact. 

   1674.  LORD METHUEN:  In Clause 4(4) you have the words “pleasure craft”.  Should “pleasure craft” be defined in the interpretation section?

   1675.  MR GEORGE:  Pleasure craft are defined in the 1988 Act and where there are definitions in the 1988 Act they are applied into this Act, so Section 25(1) of the 1988 Act defines a “pleasure craft”, and one reads the two Acts together.

   1676.  On one related matter of Breydon Water, your Lordships will remember some evidence was given about a particular skipper who had to be rescued on four occasions.  The references are in Day 3, page 21, paragraph 745, and the same day, a few pages later, at paragraph 385.  My Lords, I want to make one matter clear:  Mrs Wakelin referred to that skipper as having been “swept out to sea”, ie swept out beyond Breydon Water.  Having looked at the matter again carefully the Broads Authority is not able to say that the person was “swept out” of Breydon Water.  They know he got into difficulty, that he had to be rescued, but insofar as Mrs Wakelin suggested he was “swept out to sea” we wish to withdraw and make a correction in that respect.

   1677.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much, Mr George.

   1678.  Are there any other questions from the Committee?  (None indicated.) 

   1679.  If we can please, then, clear the Committee room so we can deliberate, that would be 
   1680.  very helpful.

At 11.25am Counsel and Parties are directed to withdraw and at 11.33am are again called in.

   1681.  CHAIRMAN: Before I call our first witness, I would first just like to say that the Committee will rise before five o’clock today, probably at ten to or five to, because a number of colleagues have got to get to meetings at five.  

   1682.  Secondly, the Committee has received a letter from Richard Baguley and we have discussed it and I am pleased to read out a short statement so that it goes on the record.  

   1683.  “I apologise to your Lordships and ask that this statement be added to the record.  On reading the transcript of Day 4 of the proceedings of your Committee, I realised that, in an endeavour to move on quickly, I deviated from my notes and made an incorrect statement.  What I said at 1330, at line 14, was, “We have been described by the last Chairman as a ‘little men’ in an email he circulated to his board members ...”  I would like to clarify that the last Chairman was not the author of the description ‘little men’, the author was a colleague of the last Chairman and it was his colleague’s email that the last Chairman circulated.  I also apologise to the last Chairman for any offence caused. What I should have said was: “The last Chairman circulated to his board members an email he received from a colleague which described us as ‘little men’.”  That is end of the letter.  

   1684.  Right, shall we then move on to the evidence of the Norfolk County Association of Parish and Town Councils.  Mr Sadler, you are representing them, so could we call Councillor Clive Stockton to come and sit in the chair here, and it is normal to face the Committee.  I am so sorry, Mr Stockton, we have changed the order; it is Mr Griggs to come first.

   1685.  MR SADLER:  My Lord Chairman, can I make a point of order really.  It is the National Association of Local Council’s policy that its Chairman of National Council represents the Association first on any debate and any matter, so in that case could I ask your indulgence to change that around and if we could have Councillor Michael Chater, if you would not mind, my Lord. 

   1686.  CHAIRMAN:  It is a policy of continuous improvement, is it not!  Right, Councillor Michael Chater.
COUNCILLOR MICHAEL CHATER, Sworn

Examined by MR SADLER
   1687.  MR SADLER: Councillor Chater, would you please identify to their Lordships your full name. 

(Councillor Chater)  Councillor Michael Chater - C-H-A-T-E-R. 

   1688.  Could you also enlighten them on your role in public life and also with the National Association of Local Councils. 

(Councillor Chater)  Thank you.  I am Chairman of the National Association of Local Councils, a councillor within my parish, clearly, and through the elected process through district, county and on to the regional and national body.  I also, incidentally, happen to be a Vice Chair of the Regional Assembly and have some experience therefore of town and parish council representation within that aspect of regional government. 

   1689.  Thank you.  Could you also give them some idea of your working life on what you have done, what roles you have carried out in public life. 

(Councillor Chater)  My career has been through education and also in higher education and as a national officer working for the Board of Education.  I have also worked within county council in its training department and inspection department for education and governance.  I still continue to do some voluntary work on governor training in two counties.  I am involved with my parish obviously in a wide sphere of work of local councils and within my church I am involved also. 

   1690.  Thank you, Councillor Chater.  Could you now turn to your role in the National Association of Local Councils, of which you were Vice Chairman, and give their Lordships the benefit of when you took over as Chairman and the role that you hold within that organisation now, please. 

(Councillor Chater)  For the previous three years I was the elected member as the Vice Chairman of the National Association of Local Councils, working obviously then in co-operation with the then Chairman and with the various committees and bodies, and with the Chief Executive, who has a key role obviously in the negotiations with government and local authorities.  I took up the post as an elected member as Chairman of the body in December of last year, 2008, and since then my feet have not touched the ground, thank you! 

   1691.  Could you outline for their Lordships the role that you play within the National Association, in other words where you represent the Association and at what levels?  

(Councillor Chater)  My Lords, I am involved obviously at a variety of levels.  The main one of course has got to be in the context of government negotiations, alongside the Chief Executive involved in contact with the Local Government Association and with all the representative bodies with which the National Association is inter-connected, a whole panoply of existing regional, community, rural and urban bodies which we seek contact with, and to be effective in representing our town and parish councils as the first tier of local government.  Without that, we feel the democratic process would be denuded and therefore we seek co-operation at all levels. 

   1692.  Could you explain also to their Lordships where we fit into a democratic society and also illustrate to their Lordships where, if we are not included, we have a democratic deficit on any particular local authority? 

(Councillor Chater)  My Lords, if I take really that as an opportunity to give you some background to the National Association’s work, or NALC as you may be familiar with it.  It is the recognised national body that supports and represents the interests of neighbourhoods, parishes, town and local councils.  There are a total of 8,500 such local councils and, as you will appreciate, 80,000 local councillors thereby.  NALC provide support and advice directly to our member local councils through a network of county associations.  These also act to some degree as an electoral college, for instance for the regional aspects.  We are actively involved in working with and influencing government and a wide range of stakeholders, both at a national level, and we seek to advance and protect the interests of the local councils and communities we serve.  NALC provides national leadership therefore as well as information, support and service in areas such as legal, policy, parliamentary affairs (I have with me the leader of the policy and parliamentary affairs officers section), training, conferences and events.  We are asked, my Lords, of our other connections in terms of partnerships and collaboration and I just give you some of the acronyms: CALC, County Association of Local Councils; SLCC, the Society of Local Council Clerks; ACRE; LGA, with which you will be familiar; CCN; One Voice Wales; NABVA and AMI for the marketing side; the Scottish Association of Community Councils; and the UK Alliance for International Development.  That give you some idea of our reach.  We have three key strategic objectives: firstly, to develop and improve service delivery to our members; secondly, and key, to develop the role of local councils in local government and our communities and communicating part in terms of the message of what we do.  Thirdly, in terms of description, as you will be familiar I am sure my Lords, local councils have powers to raise their own funds through precept.  They are independently elected and serve electorates ranging from small and rural communities to major cities.  They are therefore a very significant part, although the first tier of local government.  This first tier then has an employment structure that involves 25,000 staff and, while their annual expenditure is in the region of about £400 million, they have a significant impact on a major proportion of our society and our role is growing in that way, as you know, through other legislation.  The first tier of local government strives to improve community well-being and provide better services at a local level.  Their work falls into three main categories: representing local community themselves; delivering services to meet local council needs; and working to improve the quality of life in the community.  I emphasise the last one, my Lord, because I think it is so key - working to improve the quality of life in our communities.  That I think is the interconnection with all our other local authority principal bodies and with government and with community and stakeholders.  Local council provide and maintain a range of services.  I will illustrate some of them.  I could make it a very lengthy list, as I am sure you will know, but in includes allotments, bridal ways, burial grounds, bus shelters, car parks, commons, community transport, public lavatories, public street cleaning, lighting, tourism litter bins and so on, a vast range of local matters that affect our communities.  We enjoy cross-party support and cross-party support is a key element for the way we work.  We are established as a valued form of local democracy and management. We have an increasing role in urban areas and an existing grassroots structure which is being built upon.   Local councils should be supported to improve capacity, to deliver better services and represent the community’s interests and existing powers.  We should be strengthened in our new powers of partnership working and delegating additional services, budgets and decisions, to local councils within the framework which you know is being discussed throughout our national debates.  Over the last ten years, my Lords, there have been several White Papers.  I just refer to some of the legislation that recognises the importance of our role and the contribution of local councils seeking to strengthen and develop their functions.  In 2000 we had the Rural White Paper that you will be familiar with, which referred to a Quality Parishes Scheme and the National Training Strategy as well as the Vital Villages Initiative.  This supported development of community-led planning, tied in perhaps with today’s issues.  The Local Government White Paper 2001 increased the levels of expenditure, the ceiling, under Section 137 and subsequently, in line with inflation, introduced guidance on double-taxation, streamlining the borrowing approval system to local councils and providing grants to local councils to support the duty of best value.  In 2005 we had the Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act giving local councils new powers to issue fixed penalty notices for litter, graffiti, fly-posting and dog fouling.  The Sustainable Communities Act 2007 reinforced the importance of local councils.  We had in 2007, coming closer to home, the Local Government and Public Improvement in Health Act.  This enabled local councils to use the wellbeing power to appoint additional councillors, to change their name and for new local councils to be created in London.  I would suggest the last one is a particularly significant element, my Lords, creating new councils in London in major urban areas.  The recent White Paper, Community Empowerment, published in July 2008 made firm commitments to empower local communities in both rural and urban areas through encouraging the creation of local councils, including a new right of appeal, further support for the quality scheme for parishes, encouraging participatory budgeting and the introduction of the census for local councillors, the use of petitions and a new duty to promote local democracy.  Moving to the final part of this presentation, we have welcomed the current Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Bill.  This aims to promote local democracy and economic development, but we would wish to strengthen the opportunity for local councils to be informed, consulted and involved in the functions of key public authorities and also to contribute to local economic strategies.  Local councils play a pivotal role in community cohesion and neighbourhood management but they do require more information from, and closer working with, principal local authorities, sub-regional, regional and national public authorities who regularly provide and manage public facilities and services to communities.  Accordingly, NALC, my Lord, firmly believes that local councillors should have a greater opportunity to be informed, consulted and involved in the function of key public authorities and contribute to developing local, sub-regional and regional strategies.  My experience as a Vice Chairman of the Regional Assembly over nine years, and as they move into a changing structure, is that if you are not there your voice and the voice of local democracy is not expressed.  Thank you, my Lords.

   1693.  MR SADLER:   Thank you, Councillor Chater.  I hope, my Lords, that gives you the idea of where we fit in the national sphere of government.  Thank you.

   1694.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr George, do you want to cross-examine the witness?

Cross-examined by MR GEORGE

   1695.  MR GEORGE:  Mr Chater, I wanted to cross-examine some witness about the details of the Petition, but would it be better if I left it to the next witness or should I leave it to you?

(Councillor Chater)  I think that may be better for the next witness.

   1696.  Very well, I will leave that over.  You say you are a parish councillor?

(Councillor Chater)  Yes, indeed.

   1697.  Are you a parish councillor for an East Anglian area?

(Councillor Chater)  No, I am not.  I am a parish councillor in Sussex in the south of the country.

   1698.  MR GEORGE:  Thank you.

   1699.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Mr Chater, you may stand down.  Mr Sadler, who is your next witness?

MR JUSTIN GRIGGS, Sworn

Examined by MR SADLER

   1700.  MR SADLER:   Thank you, Mr Griggs.  Would you just explain who you are, your background and what role you perform within the National Association of Local Councils, please?

(Mr Griggs)  My name is Justin Griggs.  I am the Head of Policy and Development within the National Association.  I have a background of working in local government both for a district council on entering a reorganisation and also for that unitary authority.  I have been with the National Association now in a policy development improvement role for the last eight years.

   1701.  Thank you.  Could you, for the benefit of their Lordships, outline the role that you play within our National Association in the way that you represent them, in the way that you communicate with ministers, secretaries of state and senior civil servants in the role of local government?

(Mr Griggs)  The responsibility I and my team have within the National Association is to support our improvement and development work in a number of areas that Councillor Chater has already outlined, and particularly in terms of our policy and our parliamentary and public affairs work to liaise with government, across political parties and with a whole range of other stakeholders to advance and protect and support the role of local councils.  In particular, that has involved a long history of engagement on the White Papers and legislation that has been affecting local councils over the last ten years, in particular a number of those which Councillor Chater outlined.  Another role of my team is on the delivery of a number of projects and programmes to support building the capacity and capabilities of local councils to achieve its objectives.

   1702.  CHAIRMAN:  Can I just stop you a second, please, Mr Griggs.  The Committee is not in the situation of being lobbied by people today.  I am sure the parish councils have a big role in lobbying.  Could we move to the Petition subjects, would that be possible?  I think we have had a good deal about the excellent work that parish councils do nationally but it would be good to move towards the Petition subjects which I know you are very keen to raise.

   1703.  MR SADLER:   Yes, my Lord.  It was just really that Mr Griggs has got information that we are supported very well by government and that government support comes through to parish and town councils in the role that we perform.  Yes, I am happy to go down that line and come back to the position if that is your wish, my Lord.

   1704.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much.  

   1705.  MR SADLER:   Would you like Mr Griggs to stand down?

   1706.  CHAIRMAN:  I am not sure what else he has to say but I do think we ought to move on to the Petition.  We have got a good view of the importance and role that the government sees for parish councils in the past and in the future.

   1707.  MR SADLER:   Fine.

   1708.  LORD BROUGHAM AND VAUX:  Do I take it, Mr Griggs, that you are not from Norfolk or Suffolk?

(Mr Griggs)  I am not, my Lord.  I was born in south-east Kent.

   1709.  CHAIRMAN:  Are you happy to move on to the next witness?

   1710.  MR SADLER:   Yes, of course.

   1711.  CHAIRMAN:  Before he stands down, Mr George, do you wish to cross-examine him?

   1712.  MR GEORGE:  So far as the detail of what is sought in this Petition, should I be putting that to one of the next witnesses or to you, because it is the Association’s Petition and I have some matters I want to explore about it and its implications?  Are you the person I  should put that to you or a later witness?

(Mr Griggs)  I would suggest the specifics of the Petition are put to other witnesses today.  Our contribution as a National Association is to provide that backdrop in the context of local councils nationally and the role that they play.

   1713.  So this comes from the National Association but it is really, as it were, a regional petition, is it?  If I want to suggest there are some difficulties in the way of the Petition, I should be putting that to one of the other witnesses you are saying, are you?

(Mr Griggs)  The Petition is put forward by the Norfolk Association of Local Councils and I think Councillor Chater has tried to outline to my noble Lordships our structure and the role the National Association plays in representing local councils through local associations such as Councillor Sadler’s.

   1714.  Let me just confine myself to one matter.  So far as development anywhere in the country, there are procedures, are there not, for the consultation of parish councils about the outcome of the proposals?

(Mr Griggs)  There are procedures for consultation with parish councils, yes.

   1715.  The mechanics of it is under a thing called the Town and Country Planning General Development Permitted Order 1995 and a parish council can indicate that it wants to be consulted and if it gives that indication then it has to be consulted and given 14 days to put in its observations on any particular planning application.  Can we agree with that?

(Mr Griggs)  Yes, that is correct.

   1716.  Were you aware that in the area of the Broads a system operates whereby parish councils are notified of all applications for planning permission? Were you aware that operates?

(Mr Griggs)  On the matters relating to the Broads Authority in consultation with local councillors I would say that is a matter for the Norfolk Association because I would not be familiar with the specifics of your consultation.

   1717.  I am not concerned with general conservation issues, mine is a narrow question, that in relation to any application for planning permission, where it is the Broads Authority that is the local planning authority there is a system in operation whereby all the parish councils, and there are 93 parish councils which fall within the Broads Authority’s area, are informed if the development is either within their parish council area or is in the immediately adjoining one and might affect their parish council.  Were you aware of that matter?

(Mr Griggs)  I am not, Sir.  As a national body I cannot say that we would be familiar with all of the consultation arrangements from all public authorities and principal authorities with planning powers with all 8,500 councils up and down England.

   1718.  In the Broads area, instead of just giving the bare 14 days, which is what is provided for by the Order, it has been decided to give an extra week, so there are 21 days of notification.  I take it that is the sort of generous application of consultation provisions which your National Association would welcome?

(Mr Griggs)  We would certainly welcome any wider involvement and consultation with local councils wherever appropriate.  Our evidence across the country from local councils is their experience is very patchy in how they are consulted on a range of matters from a range of public authorities, be it on planning or otherwise, from undergoing consultation through sending out documents for comment by councils through to much greater involvement of local councils, which is the aspiration which we would seek to achieve, rather than just pure consultation, a much more of a strengthened relationship on matters that will affect local councils and their communities.

   1719.  Your National Association is not aware, are they, of any particular complaint coming from the parish councils in the Broad Authority’s area that they are not consulted on planning applications?

(Mr Griggs)  In terms of complaints from local councils nothing has been put forward to use within the National Association, although I know through our Norfolk Association there are concerns around that relationship and consultation with local councils.

   1720.  MR GEORGE:  Thank you very much.

   1721.  CHAIRMAN:  I think, Mr Griggs, we can invite you to stand down.  Who is your next witness, Mr Sadler?

The witness withdrew

   1722.  MR SADLER:   My Lord Chairman, we can now go back to the prescribed order, which was the one you had originally.  It is Councillor Clive Stockton of North Norfolk District Council.  I should explain, my Lord, we set this out so we started local and worked downwards but, unfortunately, the first two witnesses have got appointments in the other place this afternoon and it was not possible for them to stay after lunch.  I apologise for that.

   1723.  CHAIRMAN:  No problem.  Thank you.

COUNCILLOR CLIVE STOCKTON, Sworn

Examined by MR SADLER

   1724.  MR SADLER:   Councillor Stockton, would you like to give their Lordships the benefit of your experience and background as a district councillor, please?

(Councillor Stockton)  Indeed.  I am originally an engineer and a director of a multinational company, but in about 2003 I stood locally for the parish council in North Norfolk, which is in my home village on the coast, Happisburgh, that is next door to the Broads.  Subsequently I stood for district council and today I am Deputy Leader of North Norfolk District Council.  My coastal parish is where I live, but my ward for the District Council is what is known as Waterside Ward and that comprises four parishes, the parish of Hickling, Potterheigham, Ludham and Catfield, all of which are in the Broads area.  My portfolio on the council includes coastal issues, which is high in importance in North Norfolk, economic development, housing and forward planning.

   1725.  Thank you.  My Lord Chairman, I am aware that the witness is not facing the microphone and I just hope everyone can hear.  I think at the back there was a bit of difficulty in hearing, but it is fine really.  Could you also outline your experience that you have had with North Norfolk District Council in the planning process prior to April 2007, please?

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes, indeed.  When I first became a district councillor I did go on to the planning committee.  Subsequently, when I became a cabinet member I had to come off planning, but whilst I was on planning some of the experience was for planning issues on development control east, which we split into east and west in North Norfolk, which included the Broads area and at that time we carried out all planning issues on behalf of the Broads Authority.  All planning came to the district council and went in front of the normal elected board for development control.  I did have some experience of Broads issues as far as planning was concerned up to that time.  Subsequently, planning went back to the Broads Authority so it is no longer the case that the district council carry out the Broads Authority’s planning work.

   1726.  Would you just enlighten their Lordships whether you think the present regime of the planning authority of the Broads Authority is as good, bad or equal to what you used to have when it was the district council who had the main input to the Broads Authority on a planning application, please?

(Councillor Stockton)  My experience in recent times, and this comes from my attendance at the four parish councils which comprise my ward, is that there is a concern at parish council level that the breadth of understanding and decision-making and consultation, and listening to local people, that did occur when the district council carried out the planning authority for the Broads Authority is no longer there.  There is genuine concern in my parishes that there needs to be some local involvement in the process.  There is a concern that it has a tendency to become autocratic.  My parishes have voiced concerns over certain planning applications.  I do have to say it is true that parish councils will be consultees.  I, because I am a district councillor covering a part of the Broads are, do receive details of planning applications in the Broads are which I represent and I have the opportunity to comment.  Nevertheless, my parishes do feel that there should be more in-depth involvement by having some democratically elected members as part of the authority.

   1727.  Can you clarify how that involvement could be improved?

(Councillor Stockton)  Well, I believe that as far as the Broads Authority members are concerned, I understand that proposals will be for district councils to be represented and appointees through the secretary of state.  I do believe that not only would democracy be served but people would feel considerably more at home locally with the process were there to be a number of locally elected people as part of the Broads Authority because the Broads area at the end of is for many people a local working area.  It tends to be almost viewed as a theme park but it is not, of course, it contains some very lively villages where people live and work and there is this feeling that they should be represented.

   1728.  In your role as a district councillor when the planning was held by the North Norfolk District Council, could you give some idea to their Lordships of the amount of time that was spent in the Planning Committee hearing applications and how the views of the parish and town councils within that particular area were put towards the committee and how they were able to express their views on planning applications.

(Councillor Stockton)  I could not give you the statistics of them in terms of how many applications North Norfolk actually did and I would be foolish to pretend I could.  In terms of the applications, it would certainly be true to say that the committee was always minded of the special circumstances that occur in the Broads Authority in terms of the environment, the whole range of potential problems, including things like flood risk assessments, which the Council has commissioned and recently updated because a lot of the villages in my ward, for example, are seriously prone to flooding.  What I can say is that those sorts of issues were quite hotly debated by the elected members of the District Council’s Development Committee.  Parish councils particularly have an input there, sometimes for positive, sometimes for negative.  There are still concerns in two of my parishes, for example, that the flood risk assessment that has recently been completed is perhaps too draconian in terms of what it restricts.  Nevertheless, the importance was the input of local knowledge and it is that that is part of the concern that is being expressed, along with all the complications which do accrue when you are looking at any kind of development within an area like the Broads.

   1729.  Thank you.  Just one last point.  Could you confirm to their Lordships that North Norfolk District Council is the largest council within Norfolk with the most parishes within the Broads area?

(Councillor Stockton)  I believe that to be the case, yes.  Certainly we cover the biggest slice of the Broads area.

   1730.  MR SADLER:   Thank you.  My Lord Chairman, I hope later, if I get the opportunity, I can explore this a bit further with some evidence that I have got.

   1731.  CHAIRMAN:  Of course.  Thank you, Mr Sadler.  Mr George?

Cross-examined by MR GEORGE

   1732.  MR GEORGE:  Councillor Stockton, the situation at the present time is that your District Council, North Norfolk District Council, appoints, does it not, one of its members to sit on the Broads Authority?

(Councillor Stockton)  That is true.

   1733.  In addition, there are two members of Norfolk County Council who sit on the Broads Authority?

(Councillor Stockton)  I understand so, yes.

   1734.  In addition to those three members, there are another six members who are appointed by other local authorities, including Suffolk County Council and other district councils?

(Councillor Stockton)  I believe so, yes.

   1735.  So, of the total of the 21 members of the Authority, nine of them are people who have stood at the hustings, as it were, initially to be elected member of their local authority?

(Councillor Stockton)  Indeed so.

   1736.  CHAIRMAN:  Councillor Stockton, could you look at the Committee, not because we do not trust you but if we cannot hear with the microphones you will not get transcribed properly.

   1737.  MR GEORGE:  You said that your ward included four parishes all of which were in the Broads Authority area.  Could you just repeat what the four parishes were?

(Councillor Stockton)  They are Hickling, Potterheigham, Ludham and Catfield.

   1738.  You say they are all in the Broads area but the truth of the matter is they are all partly in the Broads area, is that not right?

(Councillor Stockton)  That is the case, some bits of the parishes are outside.

   1739.  In all cases the majority of the parish is actually outside the Broads’ executive area, is it not?

(Councillor Stockton)  Not the case I would think in Hickling.  Possibly the case in Potterheigham and Catfield.  They are certainly viewed as Broads villages and I would suggest that Hickling is almost entirely in the Broads area, but I could be mistaken, I have no map in front of me.

   1740.  It is an oddity, is it not, that so far as the Broads Authority, because of the shape of the Broads, in fact, a very substantial number of parish councils have part of their area within it?  The figure is 93 parish councils actually have part of their area within the Broads’ executive area.

(Councillor Stockton)  I believe that is so.  It is also the case that when we have had things like LEEDA+, which was a European scheme for providing money for Broads based areas that, in fact, LEEDA+ fell over into parishes outside of the Broads, so it covered a slightly larger area than the Broads.  This is collectively viewed as the Broads area.

   1741.  I do not know whether you have looked at the position so far as the national parks generally, and you may say they are no concern of yours, but the difference between the Broads and the national parks is that the national parks are, as it were, extensive areas, not long linear areas such as the Broads and, therefore, they will have numbers of parish councils which are entirely within the area of the National Park.

(Councillor Stockton)  I would think so, but I am not familiar with the national parks.

   1742.  So far as the new system which operates, let us look at it at two stages.  The first is the system which operated from 1989.  That was that the Broads Authority became the planning authority, that is the body charged with determining the outcome of planning applications where the site of the proposed development was within the Broads Authority area.

(Councillor Stockton)  But it was, in effect, subcontracted to the district councils until, from memory, 2005.

   1743.  What they subcontracted out was the original handling of the matter, is that not right, that is the consultation on the application, but the actual decision still remained, did it not, a matter for the Broads Authority?

(Councillor Stockton)  That is the case, but all the background work was carried out by officers or committee members of the district council.

   1744.  Then the change was that the Broads Authority brought the matter in-house and itself took over the processing of the application, so you make your planning application straight to them, and although there was consultation with people outside, the publicity and the matching of the planning application against the various plans and the writing of the reports and so forth was all being done within the Broads Authority.  That was the change, was it not?

(Councillor Stockton)  That was the change, indeed, yes.

   1745.  I do not know whether you read the evidence, but the fact was that the Broads Authority was being criticised because it was being so slow in dealing with its planning applications and as a result of taking the matter in hand it is now doing much better  meeting the Government targets for the time which it should take to publicise, consider and determine planning applications.  Were you aware of that matter?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I was not.

   1746.  What Mr Packman said when he was giving evidence was that under the old system there was a tendency for the matter not to be the priority of the district councils because so far as Government statistics, and it happens that your grant relates in part to how quickly you process your planning applications, there was no incentive for district councils to be expeditious in processing the Broads Authority applications because that did not go into their statistics.  The Broads Authority, as I say, has found by taking it over doing it themselves the whole matter can be done much more quickly because it then becomes a priority as opposed to being a secondary matter.  Were you aware of that background?

(Councillor Stockton)  I am aware of that, of course, yes.  It is true that there is now part of Government grant to local authorities called the Planning Delivery Grant, now called the Housing and Planning Delivery Grant.  I am aware parts of that is based on meeting targets in terms of the time to process planning applications.  There are other changes that have occurred recently in that planning is now based upon a new system called the LDF, or Local Development Framework, which is going through to replace what was previously the Local Plan.  There are a number of other changes.  It would not surprise me that in recent years there is pressure on all local authorities to meet better targets and to get as much from the planning delivery grant as possible.  I would say that does not preclude the possibility, as this is a Bill that is now going through, of getting more local representation.  I do not think that would be in any way disadvantageous and certainly from the perspective of a lot of people in my parishes it would have the advantage of giving not only the reality but the feeling that they have a local involvement.

   1747.  Councillor Stockton, there are just two short documents, and the one refers to the other, which I have asked that they be circulated.  This is the last matter related to this question of planning applications.  (Same circulated)  Councillor, you will recall that I mentioned to the last witness the Town and Country Planning General Development Procedure Order, and that is at the top of the document called “Broads Authority Procedure …”, and he agreed with me that there was a provision whereby parish councils could be consulted.  You will be aware, I hope, that the various parish councils have indicated that they want to be consulted on planning applications and that does happen at the present time; is that not right?

(Councillor Stockton)  That is the case and, as I have mentioned, I as a district councillor and my colleagues also are given details of applications for response, yes.

   1748.  They are then given a time in which to make comments and, as I indicated, in the Broads Authority area, they are given 21 days to make their comments and those comments then get reported, do they not, to whoever is making the decision on the planning application?

(Councillor Stockton)  That would be the normal procedure.  I have not attended a planning board within the Broads Authority but that would be the normal procedure, yes.

   1749.  In your own district council, North Norfolk District Council, some planning applications are determined by your planning committee or development committee, however it is called, and some are determined by officers, are they not?

(Councillor Stockton)  That is the case.  There is a procedure where officers would normally look at an application and decide whether or not it was within policy and had no major ramifications.  If there were no objections from parish councils or other people then they would look at deciding it under navigation powers.  If, however, it is a major application and there are objections, there are complications in terms of the application being against policy, or indeed if a local member calls it in, which is the phrase that is used, and says, “I want this to appear before committee”, that would go before an elected committee of members.

   1750.  The vast majority of planning applications up and down the country are actually determined by officers, are they not, rather than going to the relevant planning committee?

(Councillor Stockton)  That is the case.  It depends, of course, geographically what that proportion would be.  I would suggest, and I would not be able to give statistical information today, that in a lot of areas of North Norfolk, and particularly those that are sensitive in terms of flooding and other similar issues, a higher proportion would in fact go before members.

   1751.  What this document called “Broads Authority Procedure …” sets out on page 2, under the heading “Decision making …”, under four heads 1-4, is the position as to what determines whether the matter is dealt with by an officer or by a member, and the system operating is pretty much the same, is it not, as operates within your own council?

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes, broadly it is.

   1752.  The second document which was circulated is called Broads Authority – Parish Council Charter”.  I do not know – have you come across this document?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I have not.

   1753.  This is what all the parishes have got and this is the parish council charter setting out what are the objectives of the Broads Authority in relation to how they deal with their parish councils.  As we can see on the first page, one has got all the usual headlines and so forth that you get in White Papers; some people call them jargon phrases, but at any rate they are desirable aims – partnership, helpfulness, consistency and so forth, and how the Broads Authority tries to deal with those when looking at planning decisions, which are on page 2, and at the very important matter which is enforcement, which is where someone has done something naughty, that is, in the sense that he has developed his land without planning permission and it is necessary to take steps against him.  There is a code which operates this with a full input from the parish councils, and that is how it ought to be, is it not?

(Councillor Stockton)  Indeed.  I find this absolutely laudable and it is absolutely proper, of course, that local councils should be involved.  Nevertheless, I believe their involvement could be improved by having a number of democratically elected members.

   1754.  MR GEORGE:  Can we just turn to your Petition?

   1755.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr George, before you do that, in this paper you have just circulated, Broads Authority Procedure, you refer to the Planning Committee of the Broads Authority.  The planning committee of the North Norfolk District Council we have heard, of course, is made up of members of the council.  Who is on the Planning Committee of the Authority and are they part of the elected members or the appointed members?

   1756.   MR GEORGE:  It is a panel made up of members of the Authority but it is not confined to the local authority members.  There is a very simple reason, that there are national interests involved and therefore the Broads Authority as a whole is represented, so it goes towards the make-up of its Planning Committee.

   1757.  CHAIRMAN:  You may want to take some more instructions.

   1758.  MR GEORGE:  I am told the majority of the Planning Committee are local authority members but they are not exclusively so.

   1759.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Mr George.

   1760.  MR GEORGE:  Do you have a copy, Councillor, of your Petition?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I do not, sir.

   1761.  A copy is being put to you, and let us go, please, within that Petition to the second page because it is there, two paragraphs above where we see “Schedule 7”, that we see a paragraph which begins, “It is your petitioners’ hope” – let me read it to you – “that your Lordships will consider favourably that 2 parish or town councillors could be nominated from the Broads Area Communities to stand for election and appointed by the democratic process for terms of office that could be agreed.”  Do you see that?

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes, I do.

   1762.  That is envisaging that in some way a mechanism could be provided that for a constituency – and it is not quite clear what the constituency would be but presumably it would be all those who at any rate live within the Broads executive area – they would be electing certain members by direct election to serve on the Broads Authority.  Do I understand it correctly?

(Councillor Stockton)  I think so.

   1763.  Then in the last sentence of that paragraph it says, “It is further hoped that the 2 members could be appointed from the 10 DEFRA appointees made by the Secretary of State as part of his/her appointments”.  Do you see that?

(Councillor Stockton)  I do.

   1764.  I think that is therefore looking to a long-term position where one has two elected members and that the ten Defra appointees presumably are going to reduce to eight.  Is that right?

(Councillor Stockton)  I believe so, yes.

   1765.  You are probably aware that in August of this year Mr Sadler sent an email to the Promoters – and the Committee have already looked at that when I was opening it; it was in the correspondence file with Petitioners in tab 4 – making it plain that you were not seeking from this Committee that there should be direct elections of parish councillors to the Broads Authority.  Were you aware of that?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I was not.

   1766.  Just so that you are not confused; it is quite important that you should know what it is you are here supporting and I do not want to treat you unfairly, could we just have a copy of the Petitioner Correspondence file?  It is tab 4, about eight pages in, and at the top it has the name “Stephen Wiggs”, and it is from Jack Sadler, 22 August 2008.

(Councillor Stockton)  I have it.

   1767.  What Mr Sadler very helpfully made plain was that all he was going to be seeking was that the 1988 Act be amended so that, instead of the Secretary of State appointing ten members from boating, conservation, farming and land-based recreation interests, those ten should include two who were representing parish councils.  I hope Mr Sadler will be able to confirm that I have correctly summarised the position, so the result would be that boating, conservation, farming, land owning and land based recreation representation would go down from ten to eight and two would come in nominated by the Secretary of State to represent parish council interests.  Were you aware that that is what is now being sought?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I was not.  It is my understanding that direct election of two members was what was being sought.

   1768.  That is the difficult thing for us as Promoters, because this letter puts forward a specific amendment to the Bill and we can see it there set out, and over the page on page 2 we can see that the ten are to include that not less than two appointed by the Secretary of State shall be parish councillors.  That, I think, has come forward in the realisation that to try and devise a new electoral structure for the Broads at this stage of the Bill would be something that really could not be contemplated, and that is why Mr Sadler wrote this letter making it quite clear to us what it was that you were seeking from their Lordships’ House today.  You have not been kept informed on that matter?

(Councillor Stockton)  No.  It has to be said that I am here today as something of a stand-in because of a bereavement in one of my colleagues’ families, so I am here at relatively short notice.  I was not aware of that amendment.  Nevertheless, in principle I believe it does still have the possibility of satisfying people I deal with on a daily basis who have this concern about democratic input.  I can understand, of course, the difficulties in terms of an election, although they are not impossible because they could be done on the same sort of term that parish council elections are done so that it could be made part of a parish council election cycle. However, I can understand that that is a complication, so I can understand also therefore where this amendment in the email has come from.

   1769.  Let us just stick with the amendment, and I think it is the only one on the table, as it were.  If the various other interest groups are to be reduced from having a representation of ten down to eight but two are to become parish council representatives you probably would not expect those other interest groups to be terribly happy.

(Councillor Stockton)  Possibly not.

   1770.  And in particular, when this was not a matter which was raised when the matter was before the House of Commons where there was both a Second Reading debate and the Bill went into committee, as we are doing here, and was there for two days and so forth but that suggestion was not being put forward by any Norfolk parish council or any association of parish councils at that stage.

(Councillor Stockton)  I do not know why it was not put forward at that stage so I cannot comment.  What I would like to say though is that the bodies that are listed – boating, conservation, farming and land owning, land based recreation, et cetera, do not have a heading that says “Local Interests”, and that is really, I think, the principle which I am supporting, that there is by definition a local interest from those people who live and work in the Broads area and they should in my opinion be represented.

   1771.  But that in part is why one has the nominated representatives, because the Broads represent more than a purely local interest.  So far as the local interest is concerned, you have got elected members from the district councils and the county councils but there are various other interests which are broader than that and that is why one has the Secretary of State’s nationally appointed members, is it not?

(Councillor Stockton)  Indeed, and I would not dispute that for a moment, the issues are broader but that does not preclude the local issue.  District councils are, of course, represented but they are the district councils that are on the boundary of the Broads Authority.  There is no direct representation within the geographic area of the Authority.

   1772.  But it is perfectly open to North Norfolk District Council to appoint as its member one of its members whose ward includes part of the Broads Authority, it is perfectly open to them to do so, but alternatively they may decide that they are simply going to appoint the person who they think would be best suited to fulfil the particular function.  At any rate, that matter is left to the decision, is it not, of North Norfolk District Council?

(Councillor Stockton)  Indeed it is, and the other councils.

   1773.  And similarly, Norfolk County Council have their two appointees and they can choose; they can have county councillors whose areas are in parts of the county through which the Broads Authority and the Broads run, or they can choose otherwise.  That is for them.

(Councillor Stockton)  That is, indeed, the case but I would like to say that in Norfolk as it stands at the moment, although we may, of course, go unitary in the not too distant future, the reality is we have a three‑tier system, we have county, districts, and parish and town councils, and as we sit here now what is being suggested represents only two of those tiers, and that is my concern.

   1774.  So far as North Norfolk District Council, have they carried out any consultation with the other groups who are going to lose two of their members if the Parish Councils’ Petition were to find favour with their Lordships?

(Councillor Stockton)  Not that I am aware of, no.

   1775.  Were you aware that the Broads Authority has carried out consultation on this matter?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I was not.

   1776.  Because in our tab 13, and I hope I will not have to take the time to go through it, the Broads Authority sent details of your Petition to the Royal Yachts’ Association, to the Inland Waterways’ Association, to the Council for National Parks and to the NFU, as well as to various other bodies, and their Lordships have got in that tab responses from the RYA, the IWA and the campaign, and they added a letter from the National Farmers’ Union, and all of them, whilst understanding the parish councils’ position, say that it should not be done at the expense of the ten members appointed by the Secretary of State.  But that is a matter you were not aware of? 

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I was not directly aware of that.  The only comment I would make is that I would not necessarily believe it was appropriate to ask the opinion of non‑elected bodies whether or not there should be democratic representation.  I think that is quite honestly the wrong way round.

   1777.  They were being asked what was their view on their ten allocation being reduced to eight, and that was a fair matter, was it not, to ask them their view?  You may say:  “Well, they are bound to be self‑interested in it” and that is a different matter, but it is fair to ask, is it not?

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes, it is.

   1778.  But that is not a matter that your council, or I think so far as we are aware any of the other councils, has attempted to do?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I believe they have not.  Not as far as I am aware.

   1779.  Now, when the question of changing the representation on the Broads Authority was first raised, it was raised by the Select Committee in the House of Commons.  They said that they thought that a change to bring in the parish councils had merit.  Were you aware of that? 

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes, I was.

   1780.  But, they said, quite clearly they did not believe it should be done through this particular Bill; it would require a separate piece of legislation, they thought, which could itself be consulted upon.  Were you aware of that matter?

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes, I was.   

   1781.  Secondly, when this matter was been before Parliament and been debated, most recently in their Lordships’ House on the Second Reading of the Bill, were you aware that the Minister of State specifically addressed the whole question of parish council representation on the Broads Authority.  Were you aware he dealt with it in his speech to their Lordships?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I was not.

   1782.  What he said, again, was that it was premature; it was a matter which the Government would want to consider but at a later stage, and he did not believe it appropriate to try and alter this present Bill.  You were not aware of that? 

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I was not.

   1783.  Were you aware that there has been, last summer and autumn, a public consultation precisely on the issue as to what should be the form of representation of parish councils in national parks and on the Broads Authority in particular?  Were you aware of that?

(Councillor Stockton)  No, not in detail.

   1784.  Well, let me just take you, if you are not aware of that, please, to one document in our big bundle at tab 11.  On the first page, headed “Consultation on direct elections to English National Park and Broads authorities”, and two thirds of the way down the page you will see a paragraph beginning:  “that does not imply I wish to see directly elected members”.  Do you see that? 

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes.

   1785.  And the Minister then set out what he had told the House of Commons and that was, two paragraphs from the bottom of the page:  “I want to look at the issue across the piece because it is not only the Broads Authority that is affected.  I want to understand the views of the other park authorities and the view of the many people who have an interest in our national parks”.  Do you see that? 

(Councillor Stockton)  I do.

   1786.  And he went on to say three lines from the bottom of the page:  “I will therefore issue a consultation on the future of the constitution”.  Do you see that? 

(Councillor Stockton)  I do.

   1787.  And if you will then just turn on a few pages you will come to a page which is a Defra document headed “Consultation on Direct Elections to English National Park and Broads authorities, July 2008”?

(Councillor Stockton)  I have that, yes.

   1788.  Do you know whether your authority responded to this document?

(Councillor Stockton)  Specifically no, I do not.  I would be very surprised if it did not.

   1789.  We tried to find out looking at your website and so forth but there is nothing on it, so I am simply not quite sure what is the position, but there has been a consultation and just so that you see some of the questions, if you would go in that document and find page 8, which is the easiest to find, there is a page 7 which has the “7” written near the spine.

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes, I have it.

   1790.  And if you look there at question 4, you see this question: “Do you wish for the Broads to have parish members bearing in mind the overall size of the Authority and replacement of any existing members to accommodate them?”  Do you see that particular question? 

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes.

   1791.  You were not aware that that particular question was the subject of public consultation this autumn? 

(Councillor Stockton)  I knew there was a consultation: I did not know the specifics of it.

   1792.  And that consultation has now come to an end, because people were asked to have their replies in in the latter part of last year, and it closed on Friday 28 November 2008, as we can see on page 7, and the situation is that the Department is considering the responses, and if normal practice follows, there will be another document which summarises the consultations and proposes the Government’s thoughts about a way forward.  So we are in the interim position while Defra and the Minister are considering the responses to that question.  Does that not suggest to you that it is rather premature to be asking this Committee to do something in this Bill, as it were, today?

(Councillor Stockton)
I do not feel qualified to answer that question really, but one question I would myself put is that this presupposes that the number of members on the Broads Authority is limited to 21, and one other solution is if there is a very definite gap that could be created by dropping two of the appointed members in favour of parish council members, then is there any reason why there could not be additional?  I simply go back to the principle that I believe that you are right, national parks and the Broads Authority represent a much broader issue than the local issue, but that is not at the absolute preclusion of the local input.

   1793.  And that is precisely the sort of matter which the Government and Defra are going to be considering, which is if there is to be parish council representation should it be direct election, and what effect should it have on total numbers of the Broads Authority in a situation where certainly Dr Packman has said he believes that the 21 at present is still on the largish side for an authority.  So he said he would be opposed to larger numbers, but that is all the sort of matter which is going to be considered by the Government in the round in the light of the consultation, is it not?

(Councillor Stockton)  So it would appear, yes.  In terms of the numbers I would simply comment that most local authorities have considerably more than 21 members.  Our own authority has 49.

   1794.  But most authorities, of course, work now through a cabinet structure, do they not, with a small group, in effect, taking the decisions and a scrutiny committee of other members reviewing them? 

(Councillor Stockton)  Indeed.  That is the case.

   1795.  MR GEORGE:  Thank you very much indeed.

   1796.  CHAIRMAN:  Do you wish to re‑examine, Mr Sadler, or not?

   1797.  MR SADLER:  Do I have the opportunity to come back, my lord Chairman?

   1798.  CHAIRMAN:  Yes, but I do hope we can stick to the Petition because in the Petition it does not say that you wish to increase the number of members.  

Re‑examined by MR SADLER

   1799.  MR SADLER:  I just want to refer really to all the documents that have been handed out this morning, and the question I would like to put to Councillor Stockton refers to the Broads Authority Parish Council Charter.  Halfway down we have a mention there:  “To gain feedback on its development control service, the Broads will hold ‘Parish Surgeries’ within its area”.  Has this been brought to your notice and have you any evidence to offer their Lordships that this is actually happening? 

(Councillor Stockton)  No, I have none at all.

   1800.  Although the Broads Authority have been the planning authority, in fact, since April 2007?

(Councillor Stockton)  Indeed, yes.

   1801.  MR SADLER:  The second point, my Lord Chairman, I want to raise was on the second page, “Notification of planning applications.  In order to assist in the decision‑making process, the Broads will aim to provide Parish Councils with a copy of all valid applications.”  As I see it at the moment, and I will bring evidence, if I may, when I come to my turn, the application is, in fact, advertised in the local paper, which is the Eastern Daily Press, with a response within 14 days to that advert from the date it appears, and it categorically states that those plans are available and details of that planning application at the headquarters of the Broads Authority, though it does not say that they will be forwarded to parish and town councils.  Whether that is something that is put in when the parish or town council ask for details and make their response I would not like to comment because I have not seen how that works, but this says those papers will be sent ‑‑ 

   1802.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Sadler, this sounds more like a winding‑up speech than re‑examination of Councillor Stockton.  Do you want to re‑examine him on anything he has said, or not?

   1803.  MR SADLER:  No.  I think in fairness the Petition was, in fact, drafted by the Executive Committee with my help and my co‑operation on behalf of the Norfolk County Council ‑‑ 

   1804.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Mr Sadler, but, again, that is for the winding‑up.  If you have no further questions, the witness can stand down, please ‑ I am sorry.  Lord Methuen?

Examined by THE COMMITTEE
   1805.  LORD METHUEN:  Can you just clarify something for me: does your district council appoint a member at the moment?

(Councillor Stockton)  Yes, indeed.

   1806.  How is that member selected?

(Councillor Stockton)  I would have to pass on that question.  It would be a matter of somebody who probably lives in the area but certainly has an interest in the Broads area.  I know the particular councillor that is appointed; how that process was done I cannot answer, I was not part of it.   However, it would normally be put forward by the leaders of the various political groups in the Council and then would be debated at full Council, so all outside appointees have to be done by the full Council and all members, so that would have gone through full Council at some point.  

   1807.  MR GEORGE:  Can I just help Lord Methuen, that the representative from North Norfolk District Council at present is the member for Stelham which includes part of the Broads Authority executive area and that lady is actually the Chairman of the Broads Authority Planning Committee, so that is how it works at present. 

(Councillor Stockton) Indeed that is the case.  It is Councillor Sheridan, I understand. 

The Witness Withdrew

   1808.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much.  Mr Sadler, your next witness is Councillor Snowling so perhaps he could come forward.

COUNCILLOR MICHAEL SNOWLING, Sworn

Examined by MR SADLER

   1809.  MR SADLER: Thank you, Councillor Snowling.  I would like to mention of course that Councillor Snowling has this year been awarded an MBE for his services in the community and other services he has provided, just as background.  Councillor Snowling, could you just outline the area in which you have specialised in local government, in particular with Broadland District Council which is who you are here to represent today, which is of course, my Lords, one of the areas covered by the Broads Authority. 

(Councillor Snowling)  Yes, my Lord Chairman.  My wards consist of Brundall, Cantley, Postwick and Strumpshaw.

   1810.  Thank you.  Can you outline your role that you have held and the services you have provided to Broadland District Council?

(Councillor Snowling)  I was first elected in 1998 and I have been on the Planning Committee ever since, which is for ten years.  In my second year I was Vice Chairman of Planning.  In my third year I chaired Planning for four years.  After that I was Chairman of Broadland for four years.  But, as I said, I have been on the Planning Committee for the entirety of my election. 

   1811.  Thank you.  We have had comments from Councillor Stockton on the workings of the Planning Committee at North Norfolk.  Can you give me any information on your experience of working with the Planning Committee at Broadland?

(Councillor Snowling)  Yes, as I said, I have been on Planning now for ten years.   Whilst chairing the Planning Committee we were chairing the plans which have now gone over to the Broads Authority.  Obviously democratically it worked very well.  I am not saying that the Broads Authority does not work well but in as much as they are not democratically elected. 

   1812.  Thank you.  Were you as Chairman of the Planning Committee in your time happy with the actual debates that went on with planning in the Broads area and the feedback that you were able to give the Broads Authority?

(Councillor Snowling)  Yes, I suppose I should not really say it but we controlled the situation.  We knew what was going on, we introduced public speaking which is now five minutes, and everybody had a fair crack of the whip.  They were able to ask questions or the councillors could ask questions of the local representatives and the public and it worked very well.  

   1813.  Thank you.  Have you got any comments that you might like to offer to their Lordships on the present system which took effect from 1 April 2007?  

(Councillor Snowling)  I feel that we have lost, if the word is, control - we have lost control.  It is all right to say that the parish councillors and the county councillors are informed of the goings-on at Broadland, but to be told and not being able to input the decisions is a big difference.  You say that yes, A, B and C has gone through, you can comment on A, B and C, but you cannot actually have an involvement with decision-making, which I think is lacking, hence that I am here today saying that it should be democratically with two members added or reduced so we can have a democratic input.  Parish and town councils, it is all right saying that you have an appointee or you have a member appointed, yes you do, but that particular member might not necessarily have an input as the appointees from the public would have, if that makes sense. 

   1814.  Thank you.  Is  there anything else you would like to add to their Lordships in your evidence that would improve the relationship that Broadland has with the actual Broads Authority.  I assume that planning applications do not come anywhere near the Broadland Planning Committee?

(Councillor Snowling)  I think the problem is that a decision made by the Broads Authority can be, what is the word --- well, what I am trying to say is that planning in Broadland, when you have a planning application, the Broads Authority planning can affect any wards or parts of Broadland over which we have no control.  For instance, if you have, say, something built in Brundall on the Broads Authority it will obviously affect Brundall, which is where I live actually, with extra traffic and the roads.  It is a bit like - diversifying slightly - where you have got Cantley.  If you have anything else built in Cantley, we have a Cantley sugar beet factory and we are inundated with problems with traffic and the highways and things like that.  What I am saying is that there should be an input from Broadland.  All right, we have an appointed member but I still feel that we should have democratically appointed two other members to either add it on or two other members dropping out; obviously it is not up to me to say which. 

   1815.  Thank you, Councillor.  You obviously are very familiar with the administration of Broadland District Council.  Can you just give some guidance to their Lordships on the percentage of staff and the workload that would come in from planning applications and the amount of resources that were put towards the representation and the case to be put by parish and town councils in your Planning Committee? 

(Councillor Snowling)  Certainly, how can I say it, we have won awards at Broadland for our planning.  We turn over planning within the allocated time and, in fact, I think I am right in saying last year we received quite a substantial financial award.  Yes, we have delegated powers which the officers deal with very well.  If there is a problem on anything to do with planning we can call it in and bring it to committee and discuss it at committee, but everything seems to work --- with planning nothing is like clockwork because you never know what is going to happen, but it works very well, and, as I said, I have been on Planning for ten years, my Lord, and I am very satisfied with our particular district council’s achievements. 

   1816.  MR SADLER:  Thank you, Councillor.  I think, my Lord Chairman, that concludes the questions.  I shall only repeat myself on what we have already heard from Councillor Stockton. 

   1817.  CHAIRMAN:  We can leave that to the end.

   1818.  MR SADLER:  We are timing ourselves very carefully.

   1819.  CHAIRMAN:  That is good, super.  Mr George?

Cross-examined by MR GEORGE

   1820.  MR GEORGE:  Councillor Snowling, do not look back, look forward!  

   1821.  CHAIRMAN:  We shall remember that!

   1822.  MR GEORGE:  First of all, planning procedures, let us look first of all at what I call the old position, that is the position up to 2007; all right? 

(Councillor Snowling)  Yes. 

   1823.  First of all, so far as the highways implications of any planning application, that matter gets referred to the highway authority, and that is the county council, and they express a view.  If they think it is wholly inappropriate they recommend that there be a refusal for highway reasons, which they specify, and if they say that there is not a problem then they indicate that.  Can we agree that?

(Councillor Snowling)  Yes, that is quite correct. 

   1824.  Under the old system so far as advertising the matter and processing the application, if it was in the Broads Authority area that was done by the district council, was it not? 

(Councillor Snowling)  That is correct, yes. 

   1825.  And so as far as the decision under the old system it was made by the Broads Authority itself through its Planning Committee, was it not, even before 2007? 

(Councillor Snowling)  I do not think so.  As far as I can recollect, the Broads Authority planning came to Broadland. 

   1826.  That is where I am told you are wrong.  Your Council had an opportunity to make representations and indeed your Council would have processed the matter, and it may be that during the processing sometimes it was referred to your members for review, but under the old system of 2007 you did not make the decision.  The Broads Authority was the local planning authority under the 1998  Act and they actually made the decision, that is whether to grant or what conditions to impose or to refuse; were you unaware of that?

(Councillor Snowling)  Yes, I was unaware of that.  As far as I can recollect we made the decisions. 

   1827.  And after 2007, highway matters still go to the county council, the processing of the application now is done by the Broads Authority and the Broads Authority still makes the decision, so it is just the processing of the application that has changed.  That I think you did not appreciate.  

(Councillor Snowling)  You seem to be bringing in the fact we are talking about highways.  Highways is not the only issue. 

   1828.  I led with that first.  As far as highways matters that is a county council responsibility, and therefore both under the old and the new system the county council are the people who have got the highways officers who comment on the matter.  That remains exactly the same under the pre-2007 and the present system.  The only change is that the application is actually dealt with throughout by the Broads Authority whereas previously the processing was delegated to the district councils.  That is the only change. 

(Councillor Snowling)  Yes, but it can affect the parish councils and Broadland District Council whatever the Broads Authority decide, either yea or nay with the planning application, and we have no say, have we? 

   1829.  Let us just look at the position of the parish council.  Pre-2007 the parish councils were entitled to be consulted and have their 14 days under the general permitted development order, and after 2007 there is a charter and they still get consulted, they have got their opportunity, they are given 21 days to make their representations, so the parish councils have got precisely the same chance to put forward their views as they had under the pre-2007 system? 

(Councillor Snowling)  If I may be so bold, you are talking about being consulted.  Being consulted is hardly the same as being involved with decision-making, which is what we are trying to do. 

   1830.  I am not sure I understand you because let us say I am a local person and I am very concerned, both before 2007 and after 2007, I can turn up at a meeting of the Broads Authority Planning Committee and ask if I can speak and, as happens at planning authorities up and down the country, you are given a few minutes to express your view, which is usually hostile to the planning application (it might be in favour but it tends to be hostile).  That situation whereby people can appear and in person put their view was the position before 2007 and remains the position after 2007, so again it is no change? 

(Councillor Snowling)  What I cannot understand is, yes, the public can come to a planning application and they can have their five minutes and the councillors can cross-examine the members of the public with yes and no answers, but nevertheless Broadland planning still debates yea or nay for the application. 

   1831.  Your objection is to the 1988 Act which made the Broads Authority a planning authority.  You would like, as I understand it, that Broadland should remain the local planning authority for planning matters but that means rewriting the legislation and that is no part of your Petition. 

(Councillor Snowling)  I would like members of the public to be treated fairly and to be able to have an input into what goes on at the Broads Authority. 

   1832.  Provided the Broads Authority remains the planning authority the input of the members of the public is exactly the same as the point I have already put to you?

(Councillor Snowling)  Fine. 

   1833.  MR GEORGE:  My Lords, there is one other matter I want to raise with this witness but it will take, by my guess, about four minutes.  Would your Lordship rather deal with it at 2 o’clock?

   1834.  CHAIRMAN: I suspect we may have questions.  Would you like to break?  I think we probably ought to put this off until after lunch.  Before I adjourn could I just urge Mr Sadler when he comes to his next witnesses to try and confine discussion to the Petition, which is this question of two parish council members in your Petition.  We have talked a lot about planning, which is very interesting and there is some relevance, but I think it would be helpful after lunch with the next two witnesses if you confine it to the Petition.

   1835.  MR SADLER:  As your Lordship wishes.  

   1836.  CHAIRMAN:  Committee adjourned until 2.00 pm.

The Committee adjourned from 1.00 pm to 2.00 pm

   1837.  CHAIRMAN: Good afternoon.  Mr George, I believe you had one other question.  

   1838.  MR GEORGE: I said there was just one area. Councillor Snowling, did you know the nature of the Petition that is precisely what it is that your association is seeking, namely to substitute for the ten figures nominated by the Secretary of State, eight and two parish councillors, were you aware that was what was being sought? 

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1839.  The last witness said he thought his Council had put in some representations to the public consultation on the exercise.  What we do know is your authority did put in definitely a reply to the public consultation. When I refer to the public consultation, do you know what I am talking about?  That is the public consultation of last autumn dealing with the specific question as to whether and if so what form of parish council representation there should be on the Broads Authority.  

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1840.  You knew there had been that public consultation, did you?  

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1841.  Could we circulate your own council’s document which deals with the matter.  If we go to these minutes of 16 September 2008 ‑ this is Broadland District Council’s minutes ‑ we can see in the right‑hand column the names of two people who I want to draw attention to.  First, Mr Mallett.  Councillor Mallett is Broadland’s representative on the Broads Authority, is he not? 

(Mr Snowling) That is correct, yes. 

   1842.  Four lines down, the fourth column, Mr M D Snowling, and that is yourself, is it not, present on that occasion?  

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1843.  If you would turn, please, to the next page, you will find an item 89 headed “Consultation on Direct Elections to National Parks and Broads Authorities”, do you see that? 

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1844.  It starts by saying: “The council considered a report from Head of Corporate Services and Monitoring Officer on a consultation paper issued by the Department”, and that is the consultation document which I put to the last witness, is it not? 

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1845.  Then going down below item two, you will see a response drafted by the Council’s appointee for the Broads Authority was circulated for consideration, do you see that? 

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1846.  If you would then turn on two pages, you will find headed, “Item 15, Resolution for BDC Council Meeting, 16 September”, the report and the resolution which Councillor Mallett was to move.  Do you see that? 

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1847.  He deals with the various issues, and I am not going to take you through the detail of his recommendations except in three respects.  First of all, at the top of page two, you have a page two, you will see at the very top in the first line the view of Councillor Mallett which he was recommending to your council was that the present system of locally appointed members, including local authority members, and those appointed on merit and expertise through an open process has worked well and ought not to be discarded. Do you see that view being expressed by Councillor Mallett? 

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1848.  Then if we go to the middle of page two, about the fifth line, you will see, “The Navigation Committee then appoints two of these eight to serve as members of the full authority”.

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1849.  “The result of this is that the special interest of users of the navigation, both private and commercial, are well represented on the Authority.  Seven of the 21 members of the full authority are therefore also on the Navigation Committee and can represent one of the three responsibilities”. Then if we could turn to the last page, which is headed, “Do you have outstanding issues”, I think I need to read you the whole passage: “Broadland District Council notes that paragraph 3(2) of the Consultation Paper claims that ‘more national members have professional planning backgrounds than the other membership categories’. This is not evident, says Councillor Mallett, on the Broads Authority where the local authority members predominate on the Planning Committee and the input from nationally appointed members is substantially reduced.  It is unlikely, says Councillor Mallett, that directly elected or parish council members could replicate the level of planning expertise currently  contributed by the present local authority members”. Then down to the finally, “Finally, Broadland Distract Council strongly urges the Minister not to incorporate any changes from this consultation into the Bill currently before Parliament for the following reasons:  1. The Bill is predominantly concerned with the vital issue of boat safety and its implementation and the application of these important provisions therein is eagerly awaited. 2. The whole question of direct elections and local representation is better considered after the outcome of the local government review is completed, at which time the complexities of ascertaining the electorate et cetera may be considered”.  That was a pretty clear report coming from your representative on the Broads Authority, was it not?  

(Mr Snowling) Yes. 

   1850.  He was plainly saying, “Do not make any changes at this stage”.  Shall we go back and look at what your council did.  If we go back to the page we were on, which was page 89 at the left‑hand margin of the main report, consultation on direct elections, this is the Council’s minutes of 16 September.  It said a response was circulated and then we come to what actually happened.  “In considering the issues involved, the Council stressed the need for local accountability which supported the argument for directly elected members.  Whilst merit was seen in having parish town council representation, it was considered that making changes to the constitution was premature at the current time and would result in complicated and time‑consuming matters” and then the resolution to endorse the response attached to appendix 5 to the signed copy of these minutes as the Council’s formal response, so that the response which goes in is, in fact, in terms of saying it is all premature at this stage.  If that be the situation and you actually voted for that, because I do not think you abstained or voted against it, did you?  

(Mr Snowling) No. 

   1851.  The situation is this Committee ought to know that your Council with you agreeing have decided that it was premature to make changes and the Bill not to be amended? 

(Mr Snowling) None of you have met Councillor Mallett! 

   1852.  He may be very influential but I am concerned with the democratic process.  I do not suppose you are simply scared of Councillor Mallett and, indeed, it is your duty not to be scared of your fellow councillors.  The fact of the matter is your Council reached a democratic decision to which no‑one is recorded as dissenting that this was not a matter for the Bill presently before Parliament.  That is the position, is it not?

 (Mr Snowling) Yes, but it still does not alter the matter of why I am here today.  
   1853.  MR GEORGE:  I think it does alter the matter of why you are here today. That is all I want to put to you.  

   1854.  CHAIRMAN: Mr Sadler, would you like to re‑examine or not? 

Re‑examined by MR SANDLER
   1855.  MR SADLER: I would like to come back on a couple of points.  In view of Mr George’s comment, I think we are all frightened of Mr Mallett!  Councillor Snowling, at the time were you aware when this report was written that Councillor Mallett was, in fact, being nominated as the vice‑chairman of the Broads Authority? 

 (Mr Snowling) No, I was not. 


   1856.  Would you say that it would have any effect to have a report from a person who is in line and hopefully being elected as vice‑chairman to present this report to Council? 

  (Mr Snowling) I think we are talking about prejudicial interest here. 

   1857.  MR SADLER: Exactly. I think you have answered my question.  Thank you, my Lord.  

   1858.  CHAIRMAN: Do any members of the Committee wish to ask questions of the witness?  (No response)  Mr Snowling you may stand down. 

   1859.  MR SADLER: Thank you, my Lord.

The Witness Withdrew
   1860.  CHAIRMAN: We now call Councillor Rockcliffe.  

COUNCILLOR RICHARD ROCKCLIFFE, Sworn

Examined by MR SADLER
   1861.  MR SADLER: My Lord, I am getting concerned that we are bringing in repetition here with these witnesses and I do not want to waste your Lordships’ time in going over the same thing again and again, so there is only one question I really want to ask to both witnesses.  If you agree with that, I think it will cut time down because we are going to cross‑examine on the same principles as we had before.  

   1862.  CHAIRMAN: That would be very helpful.  Thank you very much.  

   1863.  MR SADLER: Councillor Rockcliffe, just for the record, could you describe your position in local government? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) Yes.  I have been on Norfolk County Council as a councillor representing the Fincham division for some 15 years I believe it is now.  I have served various posts on the county council.  Firstly I was involved with education, I followed on to economic development and I am currently cabinet member for fire and community safety. 

   1864.  Can you also enlighten their Lordships about your role within your ward and also within your parish?  I understand you are a parish councillor? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) Yes, for more than 20 years I have been a parish councillor in my own parish and as a county councillor I regularly attend parish councils around my division. 

   1865.  LORD BROUGHAM AND VAUX:  Which is what?  Which council are you on? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) The county council, as I said earlier.

   1866.  Where do you actually live? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) I live in the west of the county, but the point is I am familiar with the proceedings of the parish councils. 

   1867.  MR SADLER: The whole essence of our Petition is to address a democratic deficit of an authority.  In your own words, can you say how you feel as a councillor that this will affect the decision‑making of the Broads Authority? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) I think the point is that as county council and from the Association of Parish Town Councils the whole point is to try and improve the quality of councils and, as such, I chair the committee that assesses parish councils. We are all the time trying to improve the way that the parish councils work and the fact that they are supporting their local communities effectively. 

   1868.  MR SADLER: Thank you.  My Lord Chairman, those are all the questions I have.  

   1869.  CHAIRMAN: Thank you very much. Mr George?  

Cross‑examined by MR GEORGE
   1870.  MR GEORGE: Councillor Rockcliffe, were you aware of the precise nature of the Petition?  Have you read the Petition yourself? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) I have not read the Petition, no. 

   1871.  Did you know that it had now been refined so that the Association were no longer seeking direct elections in this Bill but were seeking simply that two of the Secretary of State’s nominees should be representatives of parish councils?  Were you aware of that? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) Not precisely. 

   1872.  In Norfolk at the present time the Boundary Committee has been examining the whole question of electoral arrangements, has it not? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) Yes, much to our disappointment. 

   1873.  A scheme which is being considered is to have a unitary authority replacing the present position between district councils and the county council? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) One of them. 

   1874.  As to what will happen, it would be wrong to speculate, the Committee cannot speculate because their recommendations have not yet been published, have they? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) That is correct. 

   1875.  If, of course, they did decide upon a unitary authority, it might be said that that was an argument which supported trying to have some form of very local parish council representation, for instance, on the Broads Authority.  It may be a quid pro quo? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) It could be, yes. 

   1876.  At any rate, those are matters on which the outcome of the debate is expected. So far as your council, the county council, they have responded, have they not, to the public consultation dealing with the question of parish council members on the Broads Authority, the matter I was cross‑examining the last witness on?  Your council has put in a response, has it not?  

(Mr Rockcliffe) I think they probably have, yes. 

   1877.  I have not got the document here, but I am told they do favour direct elections and they say the overall numbers of members should not increase, so stick at 21, do not increase.  Is that familiar to you?  

(Mr Rockcliffe) I am not familiar with that paper, no. 

   1878.  The situation is - I think I need to put to you a question I put to an earlier witness - before one makes a change to the ten national members at present, one is one the Secretary of State appoints, it would be right, would it not, to take into account the views of those particular interest groups who at present have the ten representations? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) I think that is fair comment. 

   1879.  Do you know whether your county council has consulted them at all? 

(Mr Rockcliffe) I am not aware, no. 

   1880.  You know, as I put it to an earlier witness, that Dr Packman has consulted those interests and whilst a few of the people who he consulted have not replied, we have put before the Committee all who did reply and that was four of a fairly small number consulted and they were all hostile to the idea of their representation moving from ten to eight, which is what your Association is seeking.  

(Mr Rockcliffe) I heard you say that earlier, yes. 

   1881.  If this Petition were to find favour with their Lordships, it would mean increasing to 11, would it not, the number of members who will represent what I may call the elected party because there are the existing nine from the district councils and the county councils and there would be two more representing the parish councils bringing it up to 11, correct?  

(Mr Rockcliffe) That seems to be the case, yes.

   1882.  You have a total number of 21 members so that it would significantly sway the balance to be a majority of people who were elected, albeit indirectly, compared with the present situation where the national interest and the Navigation Committee members constitute a small majority. At present you have a situation of nine of the directly elected as opposed to the rest, being the remaining 12, being made up of either the two from the Navigation Committee or the ten by the Secretary of State, so there would be a significant change in the balance, would there not?  

(Mr Rockcliffe) Yes, but that is the point of the exercise, to try and get a lot more local democratic input.  

   1883.  MR GEORGE: I merely want to put the balance so that it can be taken. Thank you very much.  

   1884.  CHAIRMAN: Do any members of the Committee wish to ask questions of the witness? (No response) You may stand down, Mr Rockcliffe.  

   1885.  MR SADLER: Thank you.

The witness withdraw
   1886.  CHAIRMAN: Your last witness, Mr Sadler, I believe is Councillor Matthews.  

COUNCILLOR SHIRLEY MATTHEWS, Sworn

Examined by MR SADLER
   1887.  MR SADLER:  Councillor Matthews, could you identify yourself for their Lordships, please?

(Councillor Matthews)  I am Shirley Matthews.  I live in Swaffham.  I am on the town council, which I have been on for 20-odd years, I have been on the district council for 15, 16 years, and I have been on the county council for eight years.  I have also been on the executive of the parish and town councils for – I cannot remember; I think it is about 15 years.

   1888.  Could you also outline to their Lordships your role within the Norfolk Association of Local Councils, which I know you have played a large part in?

(Councillor Matthews)  We have had an enormous change in these last few years.  We have become very proactive and I sat in there as a chairman-cum-president whilst we were having this change because I think I was regarded as a safe pair of hands.  You know what it is when things change, people with varying ideas, and so I was there trying to hold it in the middle, and we are really a very proactive association now.

   1889.  Could you in your own words describe how you see the democratic deficit being achieved a lot better by the election of any directly elected members onto the Broads Authority?

(Councillor Matthews)  Our members really have the most intimate local knowledge and that is always helpful.  The others are possibly more strategic where they are looking in but our members are there on the floor and it is a different perspective from answering a consultation.  You are there, you have the input, which is so much better.  We have 4,000 members.  We have some very talented people, even one world expert on climate change, amongst our members.

   1890.  CHAIRMAN:  Councillor Matthews, in your opening remarks you gave us a long list of the many organisations you are on, which we found very impressive.  When you say “our members” can you just clarify what you mean?

(Councillor Matthews)  I am talking on behalf of the Association of Local Councils.

   1891.  Fine, because you are down in the witness list as a Norfolk county councillor and it is important to get for the record whom you are referring to.

(Councillor Matthews)  I am sorry about that.  I am here on behalf of the local councils.  We have planners, we have professional people, we have other sorts of people on the ground and we have this world expert on climate change, so we are a very useful resource with intimate local knowledge which we feel would be enormously helpful.

   1892.  MR SADLER:  Thank you very much indeed.  That is all.

(Councillor Matthews)  Can I just say one sentence at the end?  I would like to emphasise the democratic deficit because I feel it undermines democratic legitimacy on the Broads.  I had to write that down to make sure I got it right, but that is how I feel and that is how our Association feels.

Cross-examined by MR GEORGE
   1893.  MR GEORGE:  Councillor Matthews, I think you said that the area you represent is Swaffham.

(Councillor Matthews)  Yes, that is right.

   1894.  Swaffham is a lovely part of Norfolk but it is way over in the western part quite a considerable distance from the Broads Authority, is it not?

(Councillor Matthews)  Oh, yes, totally.

   1895.  So far as your county council is concerned, they did make a representation to the consultation which the Secretary of State and Defra were carrying out, and I put that to the last witness.  Do you recall that matter?

(Councillor Matthews)  Yes, I do.

   1896.  But our understanding is that that was a representation made by officers and that the contents of that representation did not go to a committee of members, unlike the Broadland one where we looked at the document and where it went to members.  Are you able to confirm that that is right?

(Councillor Matthews)  It certainly did not come in front of me.

   1897.  That suggests a democratic deficit, that there is a matter in, as it were, your own parlour which perhaps ought to have been sorted out before one turns to these other matters.  Would that be unfair?

(Councillor Matthews)  Yes, I think so.

   1898.  Were you aware until this morning of the precise thing which was being sought in this Petition, namely, that you were no longer seeking direct elections of parish councillors to the Broads, or not seeking through this Bill to achieve that, but seeking to substitute two parish council representatives among the Secretary of State’s nominees?  Did you know that?

(Councillor Matthews)  I understood that, yes.

   1899.  I put to you the same matter which I put to other witnesses: do you agree that that is a matter on which one really has also got to take into account the views of those who are presently represented by the ten which would be reduced consequentially to eight by your amendment?

(Councillor Matthews)  In some ways that is what I meant by we have a very large range of people within parish councils, that we could perhaps have that expert knowledge as well as the local knowledge.

   1900.  But you did not, unfortunately, consult those various interests before you put in your petition, did you?

(Councillor Matthews)  I understand so.

   1901.  You did not go to the Royal Yachting Association, did you, on that matter?  You did not go to the National Farmers’ Union on that matter, did you?

(Councillor Matthews)  No, I do not think so.

   1902.  And, again, you did not go to them in the run-up to this Committee in the last few months, did you?

(Councillor Matthews)  I think we have had certain difficulties, really, in trying to move forward.

   1903.  Whereas the advantage which the Minister and Defra have is that they have carried out now a wide public consultation, and obviously no-one who is consulted is bound to reply but everyone has had the opportunity and they are now considering the matter and will come up with proposals either for keeping the present position or making a change, probably some time in the spring of this year.  That is the position, is it not?

(Councillor Matthews)  Yes.

   1904.  Was not therefore the Minister right when on Second Reading he said that it was premature to start changing the present Bill before you had the results of the public consultation?

(Councillor Matthews)  I do not know really.  I think you could leave it too late to make your Petition.

   1905.  But you would not be too late.  I want you to think about this matter.  You either have a quickie change here without the benefit of full consultation and without consideration of all the alternatives, or you wait, and the Government has said that, depending on the outcome of the consultation, it is minded to bring forward changes which would affect not just the Broads Authority but the other national parks, and that is what they are presently considering and that is what the Minister announced in the other place on the Third Reading debate and was confirmed by the Minister in their Lordships’ House on Second Reading.  That must be, must it not, the sensible way to deal with these constitutional issues going to membership?

(Councillor Matthews)  I do not know, really, because I think we were stonewalled along the way.  I think that is why we have come this way.  We did not feel we were getting anywhere.  We were not listened to, we felt.

   1906.  But your Association did not even put forward a Petition in the first House, in the Commons, did they?  There was no suggestion of this change.

(Councillor Matthews)  I am not quite sure about that, to be perfectly honest.

   1907.  It is purely adventitious, is it not?  It happened that one of the members on the Select Committee in the other place was interested particularly in national parks in Wales and it was therefore raised as a matter in that in some parts of the country there were direct elections, particularly in Scotland, to national parks, and perhaps that might apply to the Broads, and the Government has responded and is consulting on the whole issue, and for your Association suddenly to come in in the second House with your Petition here is simply adventitious, is it not, and premature?

(Councillor Matthews)  If you say so.

   1908.  You cannot really say to the contrary, can you?  It must be premature, must it not?

(Councillor Matthews)  That is not really how we felt, so I cannot argue with it.

   1909.  It was what you felt but you do believe in public consultation, do you not?

(Councillor Matthews)    Yes.

   1910.  And you would be subverting the public consultation by reaching a conclusion now when the Minister is considering the results.

(Councillor Matthews)  We looked on it as having an input, really.  Maybe we were wrong but that was how we felt.

   1911.  MR GEORGE:  Thank you.

   1912.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Sadler, do you wish to re-examine?

   1913.  MR SADLER:  No, thank you, my Lord Chairman.

   1914.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much, Councillor Matthews.

The Witness Withdrew
   1915.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Sadler, would you like to make any closing remarks?

   1916.  MR SADLER:  Yes, please.  On that point, my Lord Chairman, am I allowed to introduce any papers to your Lordships on points I bring up?

   1917.  CHAIRMAN:  If it does not delay the Committee too long, but Mr George may wish to question you on them.

   1918.  MR SADLER:  Fair enough.  (Same handed)  First of all, my Lords, I would like to thank you all for allowing this Petition to go forward.  It was not a last-minute attempt but it was an attempt to get this business of democratic deficit addressed for our first tier local government level.  I have been a parish councillor for 30 years in my village of Spixworth.  I have been duly elected every time that I have stood for election and we are there to represent the wishes and the policies of our community.  If I do not get that support from them I stand for election every four years and I am out.  This is a policy which applies to all levels of government.  I have served on the association as Vice President and President and chairman of their executive committee, which is the ruling body of the Norfolk Association of Local Councils.  I have served as chairman of Broadland District Council standards committee and I have also served as chairman of Broadland District Council’s local strategic partnership, which are all bodies that take into account the role of parish and town councils all over the country, so we are democratically represented on all those authorities.

   1919.  I had a career of 50 years in the construction industry, and it may surprise you that I got myself involved in local government but it is something I believe in and something I want to do and I want to serve the public, which is the main object of all elected people.  That means that we have to listen and we have to learn and we have to represent and this Petition is there because it is in that way that we want to represent our parish and town councils within the Broads area.  I am a Fellow of the Faculty of the Built Environment, I am a Member of the Chartered Institute of Building, and I am a Licentiate Member of the Institute of Clerk of Works of Great Britain, which shows you my background.

   1920.  I just want to quickly update you on the Norfolk County Association of Parish and Town Councils.  At this stage I would like to offer your Lordships the benefit of a business plan that we have produced.  You will recall that I said that we had gone through a review and we have brought this review to a head for a period of three years and we shall review it after that.  This brings us up to a very high standard of service to our electorate.

   1921.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Sadler, I do think I have to ask you to stick to the issue of the Petition that you have put down, please.  We have heard a lot from you and your colleagues about the democracy that you have and these good works that the parish council has done.  I do not think the Committee is worried about that.  If you could stick to the Petition it would be very helpful.

   1922.  MR SADLER:  Parish and town councils in Norfolk are rather concerned regarding the consultation process which has been undertaken by the Broads Authority.  It has been mentioned that we have a local development framework which has been the subject, to my knowledge and from the correspondence I have got in our file, of three revisions, and I think you will recall that I did question Dr Packman in my cross-examination as to whether this was in place.  The answer in the record of Tuesday’s debate was that they had a core strategy.  They do not have a framework in place at the moment, and it is my belief and my knowledge that that is still not the case, although they took the planning role on in 2007 on 1 April.  I think that really means that this policy should be in place by now.

   1923.  CHAIRMAN:  Could you refer us to the paragraph number?  I think it would help the Committee, or perhaps somebody else could find it for you.  Mr Sadler is repeating statements and I think it is important that we see on the record exactly where it is and whether it is correct.  If Mr George has it that will be equally good as long as we find the reference to it.

   1924.  MR SADLER:  My Lord Chairman, it is on page 48, paragraph 503.  It was our view that that particular policy should be in place now with the time they have had since they brought in their planning function.

   1925.  CHAIRMAN:  You are suggesting that if your Petition finds favour with the Committee that would have taken place and would take place in the future?

   1926.  MR SADLER:  I would, I really would.  On the question of consultation, we have seen consultations going out on this framework.  The documentation which has been sent out to members and interested parties or consultees has included, for instance, in the revised version under “Specific Consultation Bodies” relevant town and parish councils.  I would like to question what is relevant to a consultation with parish and town councils.  If your Lordships wish I can pass this over to you as evidence.  I have got 12 copies for you.  You can have a look at that and just see what you think.

   1927.  CHAIRMAN:  If you want to give it to us we can look at it but I do not think we need you to speak to it.

   1928.  MR SADLER:  No, I shall not.

   1929.  CHAIRMAN:  Is it relevant to the Petition?

   1930.  MR SADLER:  It is something that you might find relevant in your deliberations when you come to what we are asking for.  (Same handed)  The second consultation document which I have record of being sent out was the first revision dated October 2007, and this does relate to the planning role of the Authority which they took over on 1 April 2007, “We are still consulting”.  This again gives us the relevant town and parish councils on that consultee list.  There again, my Lord, if this is of interest at all to your Committee you will see on here that we have a more detailed list of the consultees.  Going through this list, it was evident of the massive consultation the Broads Authority did.  There is no mention of any relevant parish and town council on it except the paragraph on “relevant”.  The one that I did pick up was Thorpe Parish Council.  It is disappointing because we have not got a Thorpe Parish Council in the Broads Authority, or even in Norfolk.  We have Thorpe St Andrew Town Council, we have Thorpe Market Town Council, we have Thorpe End Town Council, but we do not have that particular one in here, so I do not know when that came in but there again, if you would like to consider that in your deliberations, it is there.

   1931.  MR GEORGE:  My Lord, can I just raise a question to ask precisely what this document is?  We think it is from the statement of public consultation in connection with some element of the strategy, but I am not quite clear and since reliance is being placed on it I think we need to know precisely what this is.

   1932.  MR SADLER:  Thank you, my Lord.  Can I now come to my response?

   1933.  CHAIRMAN:  No, Mr Sadler, you are going to have to tell us where it comes from.

   1934.  MR SADLER:  I have not got that evidence available in our files.

   1935.  CHAIRMAN:  I do not think we can consider it if we do not know where it is from.

   1936.  MR SADLER:  Can I now come to the consultation that was undertaken with the size of the Authority from 35 down to 21?  We made a response on this when we were consulted as an association and I wrote myself to the Minister, care of Dave Crook of Defra.  We also made a statement in letter form to the same person from the association.  I would like to record that this was made on 9 September 2004 when this consultation was going on and members will recall that I did question Dr Packman on the question of 21 members and why that was picked.  That was on page 46, paragraph 494.

   1937.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Sadler, I am sorry to have to speak to you again, but your Petition does not suggest any change in the number of members, so I do not really think that we need to hear evidence about changes in the number of members.  It is not part of your Petition.

   1938.  MR SADLER:  I think, my Lord, with reference to that and with your patience, we did ask for members to be included in that particular consultation for parish and town council members on the board.

   1939.  CHAIRMAN:  But you were beginning to tell us about the change from 35 to 21.  What I am suggesting is you are not disputing the number 21.

   1940.  MR SADLER:  With respect, again, my Lord, I am just putting the point that at that time the Broads Authority board and the chief executive had the opportunity to make 21 ‑ to accommodate parish and town council members, and it was not considered.  Can I make that point?

   1941.  CHAIRMAN:  Yes.

   1942.  MR SADLER:  Would your Lordships like copies of the letter we sent?

   1943.  CHAIRMAN:  I think we have probably had enough paper for the moment.

   1944.  MR SADLER:  Just to refer back, my Lords, to that date of 9 September 2004, it was published in our local paper on Wednesday 19 March resulting from the debate in the other place that the sponsor in the other place put on record that it was felt that if the parish and town councils had made their request earlier than the hearing in the other place it would have been possible to include it in the Bill.  Now, as I say, our request was made in 2004, this was referred to in March 2008, and we still cannot understand why our request for members on that board was not taken up by the Broads Authority.  Is it in order for me to make that point?

   1945.  CHAIRMAN:  Yes.  Does that conclude your statement?

   1946.  MR SADLER:  No, my Lord.  I have got one or two more pieces.

   1947.  A lot has been said about the map in our bundle which Mr George referred to as section 1, the map entitled, “Norfolk and Suffolk Broads, navigation areas and adjacent waters”.  In my questions I did ask him is that the map that defines the planning area, and his answer was “Yes”.  Now, I can find that in the transcript of 3 January if you wish but I am sure you can remember that; you may like to take it as read but I have it referred to in here. Can I refer your Lordships to a document I have obtained from Norfolk County Council Planning and Transportation, which I think your Lordships will find very helpful, if not today when you debate your decision on this.  Can I pass this round?  It is a copy of a map which was held by Planning and Transportation, and it incorporates within the Broads Authority the core parishes within that area, and this will identify for you what type of parish you have and also how big an area is actually in that, and I think your Lordships may find this very useful.  I had hoped to bring this into my evidence before we had the witnesses because I think that would have helped you to understand where the witnesses were coming from, but is it in order for me to hand this round to you now? 

   1948.  CHAIRMAN:  Yes, but has it been copied?

   1949.  MR SADLER:  Yes.  I have twelve copies of everything.

   1950.  CHAIRMAN:  I think it is a great shame you did not table it earlier.

   1951.  MR SADLER:  Yes, but my Lord, I had a different route from the way you brought my evidence in.  I am starting at the beginning and we started at the end, so I am sorry about that.  (Same handed.)

   1952.  I think your Lordships will find this will identify mainly the statement we have had with 93 parishes which are in the Broads area but none of those 93 are, in fact, included in the parishes, and this is a very interesting point because the point I want to make on this is it is not specifically what happens in that small area that the Broads Authority has; it is what happens outside the area on planning applications that will make the decisions more difficult to make and to take in public opinion.

   1953.  On the same subject can I offer you another document which I have obtained from Broads District Council which does indicate on the Broads Authority the size of the parish, the electorate and also the population.  It also gives you details of how much money is spent on each authority, and how many councils there are in each of those wards in Broadland.  

I am very sorry but I cannot produce this evidence for other authorities within the Broads area; I can only do it for Broadland because that is the only information I have available.  But this will explain to you the percentage of the population that is in the Broadland area.  Is it in order to hand that out as well?  Because that will tie up with the map. 

   1954.  CHAIRMAN:  Yes, but I hope that is the last one because it is very difficult from a procedural point of view, but carry on.  

(Same handed.) 

   1955.  MR SADLER:  My Lord Chair, I am sure you do not want me to prompt you but if there are any questions I will be more than happy to clarify what is on those documents.

   1956.  The last thing I want to bring into my evidence is some records I have obtained on the proceedings of the Broads Authority and their meetings; also, on the steps which we had outlined by Mr Griggs on the Secretary of State’s involvement with parish and town councils.  Again, I have got you ten copies of these and if you would like to have a look at these, these will help you again with your deliberations on what will happen and what we would like to get from the Bill and on the Petition that we have put in.

(Same handed.)

   1957.  CHAIRMAN:  Does that complete your statement?

   1958.  MR SADLER:  Can I just run through these statements, because there are some very important points in there which I would like to put before you before your deliberations, and which do affect what we have been talking about for the last four and a half days. 

   1959.  CHAIRMAN:  Please proceed.

   1960.  MR SADLER:  Thank you.  Appendix A gives you detail of a statement made on 18 November 2008 by the Secretary of State in the other place in delivering parish and town councils power, which is what we are asking for here again, that we have some input as to what local opinion is and what local people think in running their community and the services they get, and you will see there that the Secretary of State is totally supportive of the role of the parish and town councils in local government.

   1961.  I would just draw your attention to page 19 as it is there, the third paragraph down:  “But while parish councils have been particularly popular and effective in representing local people’s views in rural areas, I would now like to see this success repeated in our towns and cities ...  Parish councils have a proven track record of giving local people a voice on the issues that matter most to them”, and I think this again addresses our concerns that we are part of the democratic process, we have information, we want to pass that on, especially to the Broads Authority in planning issues; we know what is happening on the ground.

   1962.  If I can just turn now to appendix B, which the Defra consultation on the Broads Authority which is a report to the board of the authority by the chief executive, and you will see there are there certain items in there which are to be considered by the board.  I will not go through them all but you can read this and see in your deliberations how that affects our parish and town councils.

   1963.  Attached to this document is something which I picked up from these minutes which is a consultation that the Broads Authority did on their own.  This is in addition to the Secretary of State’s consultation.  They brought in their own consultation to a list of consultees; the list of consultees I do not know because I did not see the list, but if you look on appendix 2 you will see some very interesting statistics there on the reaction of the people they consulted and, as I say, I have no idea of how many they consulted but, in fact, 14 replied.  

   1964.  You will see the first question on Appendix 2 is:  “Do you agree/disagree or support/object with/to the principle of Direct Elections?”  Norfolk County Council agreed; Broadland District Council were supportive, as we heard; Halvergate Parish Council disagreed; Thurne Parish Council, which obviously Broadland wrote to on this particular question, agreed; Repps with Bastwick agreed; and with respect to your Lordships you can see these parishes on the plan and that is why I brought the plan along because you can see where these parish councils are.  Langley PC agreed; Hoveton PC agreed; we know the Inland Waterways at the bottom of this page disagreed because we have already had evidence from them, but they disagreed at the main consultation with the Broads Authority when they consulted them.  

   1965.  On the last page, East Anglian Waterways Association agreed with direct elections; Broads Reed and Sedge Cutters Association agreed; Hoseasons Holidays disagreed ‑‑

   1966.  CHAIRMAN:  I think we can read those when we come to deliberate, thank you very much.

   1967.  MR SADLER:  That is fair enough, my Lords, I will leave it there, but you can see the other questions are answered in the columns.   

   1968.  Coming on to appendix C, it shows a particular problem we have had with the Broads Authority and with the two district councils on either side of the area administered by the Broads, and if I turn you to page 12 of 15, item 2.3, you will see there a description:  “For example, in the case of Wroxham and Hoveton, effectively one settlement straddling the River Bure, Wroxham is in Broadland District, Hoveton is in North Norfolk District and the strip either side of the river is in the Broads Authority’s executive area”.  This has proved a big problem for that particular area and I think it was mentioned in evidence earlier, that this has to be addressed where we get three authorities trying to determine and get together on a planning approval.  It has been quite difficult in this one: this is one of the major ones we have in Norfolk where it involves all three.

   1969.  I have had a letter or an account of a meeting that took place with the Broads Authority, with North Norfolk District Council and Broadland to try and settle this.  The answer has been that there has not been any agreement, not as yet.  I am sure that will be sorted out but it does leave me to draw your attention to the fact that three authorities are trying to sort out one planning application, because it falls in different boundaries ‑‑

   1970.  CHAIRMAN:  I am sorry but I do not see particularly the relevance of that to the Petition.

   1971.  MR SADLER:  Right.  

   1972.  CHAIRMAN:  It is very interesting but the Petition is to have two parish or town councillors nominated by the Broads area communities, et cetera, so could we please stick to that?

   1973.  MR SADLER:  We could, we could.  The only thing I would say to that, my Lord, is there was nobody at the meeting who represented the parishes involved.  They were not consulted or even invited to the meeting which would have been a better input as well for the local community to see how it could have been sorted out.  I will leave that point there, if you are quite happy with that.

   1974.  Just on appendix D, and I am coming to my final part now so I can show you that we are getting there, this is the agenda for the Broads Authority meeting on 26 September.  This contains a report on the direct elections consultation, and at 3.1 you have the arguments.  There is a mistake there, it says “NAPTC” and it should be “NCATPC” which is minor, but it does refer in this report to the “third tier of local government”.  As I have said before, we are the first tier of local government on parish and town councils: I do not think it is too much of a factor but it is that we are the first tier, with the district councils the second tier and Norfolk County Council the third, but I just want to make that point on a report that has gone to the Broads Authority.

   1975.  You will see on appendix 1 the Petition was, in fact, put to the Broads Authority and they had discussion on that.

   1976.  The last document I want to come to is appendix E, which is quite an interesting appendix.  It is the Broads Authority agenda for 9 May 2008, and I was at that meeting with one other witness who has appeared before your Lordships here and is here today.  We attended that meeting.  You will see at item 13 of the agenda that the “Principle of Direct Elections to the Broads Authority” was down for discussion, and that was a very interesting debate.  

   1977.  I will just turn to the next item which is appendix F which now is the Broads Authority minutes of that same meeting, and you will see there that there is no record of members of the public who attended.  As I said, I did attend and certain other witnesses who have appeared before your Lordships. 

   1978.  If we turn to point 114, this will tell you what I want to explain to you.  You will see there the minutes of the debate that took place, “The Principle of Direct Elections to the Broads Authority”, and I just draw your attention to what members resolved to do following that debate on that particular item, and that was “to unanimously support the principle of exploring direct elections to the Broads Authority and national park authorities”.  It was an agreement that was taken on board and it was passed unanimously.

   1979.  The Secretary of State in these debates or in his background papers said that any authority who wanted to support the direct elections would need a majority of 75 per cent.  This was 100 per cent.  So you can see now that the Broads Authority are going along in principle, but unfortunately I have to say, as the drafter of the Petition, we have not got any further.  We never did stand a chance really of getting this discussed in the early days.  Even as far as 2002, when we had meetings with the chief executive, we were stonewalled and the shutters came down.  They did not really want any elected members.

   1980.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you, Mr Sadler ‑‑

   1981.  MR SADLER:  My Lord, I will conclude there.  If there are any questions I will obviously answer then.  If Mr George wants to ask me any questions, I will do my best to answer them.  I do want to thank you on behalf of the Association for the time you have given to this Petition.  I know it has been difficult with a lot of paper work but we do appreciate the fact that you have allowed us to come to you and express our concern on the democratic deficit which occurs on this, and we are very, very grateful.

   1982.  CHAIRMAN:  Thank you very much, Mr Sadler.

   1983.  LORD OXBURGH:  I have just one question.  There is a list of other interests which the Secretary of State has to cover in his appointments, and that number would be reduced if a proposal along the lines which you were supporting went ahead.  Does it bother you that these interests, which are legitimate interests in the Broads, and I think the prosperity of the Broads, although they are of enormous intrinsic interest, really depends upon the large number of people who come largely from outside for boating and other purposes, so does it bother you that the representation of this broader church would be reduced?

   1984.  MR SADLER:  It does; it does.  I would say the Association would not want to see in any shape or form any reduction from the two members of the Navigation Committee, because that is a prime important issue in the Broads.  Navigation is what we have heard about all the last four days and we would not want to see that depleted.  We do have concerns regarding some of the appointments by the Secretary of State.  He has to take into consideration all the interests of the Broads, and we would like to see that as the local community, and there are issues whether farmers would have a bigger contribution than somebody who is democratically elected to put the point of view of their electors, so we are concerned.

   1985.  The alternative was to increase the board number by two and not upset the balance of what is there now, but there was reference in the other place by the Secretary of State that to introduce two more members may upset the political balance of the board’s authority.  Now, I can just categorically say to your Lordships that we are not basically political; we do not go to these debates and we certainly would not want a political hat on.  We represent the people but not in a political state; we represent them for what they want us to do and say.

   1986.  I hope that answers your question.  If it does not please let me come back to it.

   1987.  LORD OXBURGH:  I think we will leave it there but my second point is you have laid considerable emphasis on the contribution that local knowledge can make, but two people with local knowledge of parishes somewhere among the 93 are probably 80 or 90 per cent of the time not going to be able to bring local knowledge to bear on the issues which are at stake, simply because their knowledge is local.  They have experience at a local level but they cannot actually bring detailed local knowledge, which I thought was what you were describing other, than to a minority of items that are likely to emerge on the agenda.

   1988.  MR SADLER:  If I follow your Lordship’s thinking correctly, in parish and town councils we really all share the same knowledge of what goes on in the community.

   1989.  LORD OXBURGH:  So it is not detailed geographical knowledge but knowledge of how things happen in a community?  

   1990.  MR SADLER:  Yes, and the process of why it happens, when it happens and should it happen. 

   1991.  LORD OXBURGH:  Well, when it happened is detailed local knowledge, but I think what you are saying is they bring a much more general understanding of communities at that level? 

   1992.  MR SADLER:  Yes.

   1993.  LORD OXBURGH:  Is that knowledge not brought by some of the county councillors or district councillors who are also parish councillors?

   1994.  MR SADLER:  Yes, but it is not true down to the bottom level of the community.  One district councillor has, in fact, to represent the whole of the ward that he covers on the Broads Authority, and we would bring that down to a more specialised area of individual ‑‑

   1995.  LORD OXBURGH:  I thought we had agreed that it was not the specialised local knowledge that mattered: it was general experience of operating at the parish level? 

   1996.  MR SADLER:  Yes, I would agree with that.

   1997.  LORD OXBURGH:  Thank you, Chairman.

   1998.  LORD BROUGHAM AND VAUX:  You and your Petitioners obviously feel very strongly from the evidence you have given, and you may have explained why, but why did you not petition in the other place which sat in April ‘07?

   1999.  MR SADLER:  I have a one word answer, my Lord: ignorance.  We were not aware of the procedure that goes on in your Lordships’ House or the other place.  If we had known then what we know now, there would have been a Petition in there, without any doubt whatsoever, to emphasise this point on the democratic deficit.  We did not know that procedure then, is all I can say, hence we were allowed, with your Lordships’ agreement, to petition now.

   2000.  LORD BROUGHAM AND VAUX:  But surely the National Association of Local Councils has legal representatives who would have advised you on what the procedure in Parliament is?

   2001.  MR SADLER:  Yes, my Lord.  Did you refer to the National Association or the Norfolk Association? 

   2002.  LORD BROUGHAM AND VAUX:  They were your witnesses earlier this morning.

   2003.  MR SADLER:  Yes.  They did not at that time become involved; the National Association is more involved in the national issues.  The county associations, as we are, we have 43 county associations, are more or less led by their own agendas.  We can get advice from the National Association and we do, and it is high quality: they have a head of legal services who can come back to us, and that particular person has been a great asset to my in my Petition, but at that stage they did not get involved in what was their determination of a local event.

   2004.  LORD BROUGHAM AND VAUX:  Thank you.

   2005.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr George, do you wish to make a statement in response?

   2006.  MR GEORGE:  I think I can deal with this matter entirely when I reply at the end of the proceedings.

   2007.  CHAIRMAN:  Lord Trimble, did you have a question for Mr George? 

   2008.  LORD TRIMBLE:   Mr George, if you are going to reply in detail later, then my questions might be a bit premature; but I will try one of them on you.  This minute of the Broads Authority meeting in April of last year does contain a resolution to support the principle of direct elections?  

   2009.  MR GEORGE:  Yes, my Lord, and indeed further representations have been made to the consultation which is undergoing at present.  The fundamental point is that the matter should be left to the Secretary of State to form a view as to what is appropriate.  We are not 100 per cent against direct representation but direct elections cannot be achieved through this Bill; that is absolutely clear.  All that could be done in this Bill and all that was resolved on that issue was that we unanimously supported the principle of exploring direct elections to the Broads Authority and the national park authorities, so that is a question of investigate, and since then a response has been put in.  The Broads Authority is not by any means 100 per cent, or anything like, against the idea for instance of some of the nine elected representatives being from the parishes, but that can only be done outside this Bill, and it ought to be done at the same time as the whole question is being reviewed for the national parks.  I would not want to say that we are completely set against it. 

   2010.  LORD TRIMBLE: You were unanimously in support of the principle in April of last year.  The issue of prematurity relates to direct elections.  The issue of Secretary of State nomination is a different matter, giving rise to issues of balance.  

   2011.  MR GEORGE: My Lord, if there were a chance - and there plainly is a chance - that later this year the Secretary of State decides to go to direct elections, it would be rather strange if one were just trying to put in place a new system, so to that extent it is premature, and the whole matter as to how parish councils should be dealt with in relation to the Broads Authority is the very matter that the Secretary of State is at present considering, so it is premature in both respects, I think. 

   2012.  LORD TRIMBLE: But I am right in thinking that all the English national parks, leaving out the Broads Authority, have parish council representatives?

   2013.  MR GEORGE:  They do but of course they do have a large number of parish councils which are exclusively in the national park whereas the one very helpful thing about the new document that went in is that it entirely makes our point that so far as every single one of these 93 parish councils is concerned no part of them is in the national park area, so that is the fundamental difference.  

   2014.  LORD TRIMBLE:   I take that point although I am also conscious of the point that the whole area, not just the executive area but the executive area and the surrounding areas, economically benefits enormously from the Broads.  

   2015.  MR GEORGE: Indeed.

   2016.  LORD TRIMBLE:  And has a very keen interest in them.

   2017.  MR GEORGE:  And that is why the view is taken that it is district councils and the county council and the national members who are very well able to assess that matter.  As I say, the situation could change but one does have to prevent the matter becoming, as it were, too much looking at the local interest.  Plainly, we are not saying that the present situation is perfect and we are very interested in what has been the overall response to the public consultation. 

   2018.  LORD TRIMBLE: I would have thought the local interest is very much in favour of the prosperity of the Norfolk Broads.

   2019.  MR GEORGE:  I cannot comment there, but your Lordship will see that insofar as development is concerned that very often a development proposal can bring huge benefits economically but not be liked by local people.  Your Lordship will be well aware of that particular issue. 

   2020.  LORD TRIMBLE: That is universal.  

   2021.  CHAIRMAN: Okay, thank you Mr George.  Thank you, Mr Sadler.  It is now the turn of Richard Williams but first - thank you, Lord Brougham and Vaux - we must clear the Committee room please so that we can deliberate.  

At 3.11 pm Counsel and Parties are directed to withdraw 
and at 3.16 pm are again called in.

   2022.  CHAIRMAN: Mr Williams, are you ready to start?

   2023.  MR WILLIAMS:  I am ready to start, Sir.  

   2024.  CHAIRMAN:    You are now going to speak to your own Petition.  Could I just urge you not to do too much repetition of the same points which people have made before, if that would be possible.

   2025.  MR WILLIAMS:  I will certainly make my best endeavours, your Lordship.  Your Lordships, my name is Richard Williams.  I have actually lived in Norfolk since 1989 when I was appointed the Navigation Officer of the Broads Authority at its inception.  This was an appointment made necessary because the incumbent who was operating the Rivers Division in the Port Authority did not hold a master’s certificate, which was deemed by the Broads Authority to be an essential requirement for the post.  This rendered him unable to apply for the job even though he had been the rivers manager for a number of years.  I only make this point because it will reinforce something that I am going to say a little later.  

   2026.  I am a retired master mariner and a commander in the Royal Naval Reserve.  I was educated on the Conway where I learned all my basic seamanship sailing skills and how to handle a power boat.   I went to sea as a midshipman in the Blue Funnel Line in 1957 and became a fully qualified master mariner in 1966.

   2027.  LORD METHUEN:  I have to declare an interest as a member of the Holt family who were the owners of the Blue Funnel Line.    

   2028.  MR WILLIAMS:  I actually went to sea with the Blue Funnel Line.  In parallel with my Merchant Navy career, I was commissioned into the Royal Navy as a reservist.  After my probationary training, I specialised in anti-submarine warfare where I obtained a naval watch certificate and later a naval command certificate for minor war vessels.  When I talk about minor war vessels, I am talking about mine hunters, mine sweepers, patrol craft and other minor war vessels.  In 1973, I took up a management appointment within the shipping company’s head office in Liverpool, initially in project management but later in the management of the fleet.  As I was no longer in full-time sea service, my naval career had to change and I joined what was formerly the RNVR, list three of the Naval Reserve, as I have just said, taking command of mine sweepers, mine hunters and patrol craft before leaving and becoming the training officer and subsequently the commanding officer of HMS Eaglet at the naval headquarters on Merseyside.  At that time my recreational sailing was on the tidal waters of the Dee Estuary.  Unfortunately, the rapid contraction of the British merchant fleet in the late 1980s saw the demise of many famous shipping companies and associated positions, including my own.  I was however lucky enough to be appointed as the first Navigation Officer of the Broads Authority when it was set up in 1989.  This appointment was terminated in 1993, following which I returned to sea and regained command in 1995.  My last sea appointment was in command of the research vessels owned by Defra, the Cirolana and the Corystes, both of which are based at the laboratory in Lowestoft.  I retired from Seafast(?) in 2000 at the statutory age and then lectured to maritime students in Lowestoft College for a further five years.  Now I audit the suitability and safety of vessels chartered for the construction and service of offshore industries and windfarms.  

   2029.  If I may, I would just like to take a few minutes to give you the background as to why I decided to come to the House to petition the Bill.  The Authority and some members of the community  in the other House suggested that we Petitioners were opposed to the introduction of safety measures.  Whilst I was working at the Broads Authority we worked hard to introduce the Boat Safety Scheme, to which I will come at an appropriate moment.  That was going to be an inclusive part of the Authority’s registration byelaws.  

   2030.  To go to the Bill, the history of this Bill is not without controversy, and if I could ask you open your bundle at tab 1, number 1, I would just like to draw your attention to the introduction which was produced by my Lord Bishop of Norwich in respect of what is described here as the Broads National Park Authority Bill, merely to say, my Lords, that the intent of this Bill does appear to be given in this letter in the sort of form that would indicate that the most important part of it was the National Parks Bill and that the draft Bill was also going to give powers to the Authority to improve safety.  My Lord, it looks to me as though it was almost added as an afterthought.  Why I say that is - and if I could ask you to turn to tab 2 - you will see that in 2003 Defra, the Department for Transport and the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister did a report on the legislative and financial structure of the Broads Authority.  There are a number of things that I would like to draw to your attention.  If you look at page 1 of that document there do appear to be ---  

   2031.  CHAIRMAN:  Is this document 2 or 1?

   2032.  MR WILLIAMS:  Sorry, this is tab 1, document number 2.  I have had to write it in hand but it is number 2, “In House Policy Consultation Document”.  A number of things were being recommended and changes were being sought to facilitate the Authority’s modernisation programme and to ensure that the funding regime takes into account the pressures on the Broads Authority due to its watery environment and its responsibilities as a navigation and harbour authority.  It goes on to say that in comparison with other national parks the Broads Authority faces considerable conservation costs.  It goes on to say that the accountability to local taxpayers is an issue and they need to encourage the use of navigation tolls for funding purely conservation issues.  Whilst this is mainly a management system, it says, for the Broads Authority a legal requirement to use navigation tolls for the benefit of toll payers might also ease concerns.  

   2033.  I would like to then turn, if I may, to bring your attention to page 2 of this document.  It refers to the Navigation Committee and it says: “This legal requirement is obsolete.”  That is the report and it says it is obsolete.  “However, removing the Navigation Committee is contentious; many navigators value their status as a statutory consultee highly.”  “The Broads Authority may wish to consider bringing together its Navigation/Management Committee with the Broads Forum to provide strategic views, consulting the Navigation Committee on an ad hoc basis ...”  So the Navigation Committee is obsolete and the Authority is looking for ways to amalgamate it with other parts of the organisation.  My Lords, I will come back to this point, if I may, a little later on because the whole question of the Navigation Committee and its role is addressed in the side agreement which was agreed later on at the end of the course of consultation.  It then goes on to talk about a number of other things which I will not pursue at the moment.  

   2034.  However, I would like to ask you, if you will, to turn now to the next letter on this list, which is a letter from the Minister of Rural Affairs and Local Environment Quality, Alun Michael, addressed to the Chairman of the Broads Authority Mr Kerry Turner.  I think in recognition of some things that the Broads Authority has done really well, Sir, I must commend them for achieving a huge success with Defra and getting a significant amount of extra funding out of the Government, particularly to deal with those issues in the Broads where things were falling behind and the state of maintenance was declining.  We have heard about that from other Petitioners.  

   2035.  I think that if you go to paragraph three on the next page, it is probably worthwhile just dwelling on this a little longer because he understands why the requirement in the Broads Act to have a Navigation Committee might be important.  He says that it might be helpful to give the Navigation Committee a clearer role in advising the Authority.  He then refers to the report which said that the legal requirement to have a Navigation Committee is obsolete.  Given the view of local navigation interests, he does not see the need for that requirement as the Committee has what he describes as an important sounding board for key navigation issues.  He goes on about the Port Marine Safety Code.  Those are the points that I wished to take up from that letter except the one on the final page of the letter which is over Mr Michael’s signature.  He talks here about the review of English national park authorities and the recommendations, and says that the Norfolk and Suffolk Broads Act should be amended when parliamentary time allows, and that it actually improves the scope of the first two functions of the Authority, remembering of course that the Authority has three functions, which is why it has not been designated a national park and it had to have this statutory authority status.  He talks about changing those two purposes. What he did not say is what we might do about the third purpose, which in the implication of what had gone before, it would seem to indicate that the role of the navigation was perhaps or should be less than it was.  

   2036.  If I may, your Lordships. I would now like to leave that letter and move to the next letter which came from Defra and was addressed from the Chief Executive. This was as a consequence of when the draft Bill had been produced.  All of the things which had gone before had been internal negotiation between Defra, the Department for Transport and the Broads Authority, some of which, I have to say in their defence, was in the public domain. 

   2037.  This letter from Mr Kilner makes a number of issues, particularly one about the relationship of this proposed Bill with the 1988 Norfolk and Suffolk Broads Act and they are ultimately, as he says, matters for Parliament.  Of course, what we are taking about at this point is a draft Bill which has already been produced. It has been produced, your Lordships, and has been to public consultation.  In fact, this 24 May letter was during the second part of what Dr Packman told us was extensive consultation which was in two parts, the second part ending in July. 

   2038.  They are content with the Broads Authority promoting its own Bill. If you turn to the top of the next page, “Allowing the use of the title national park and national park authority” because you will remember this Bill when it first came out was being promoted as the Broads National Park Bill. The problem for those of us who are involved in the navigation is principally because the report of the Lord Salford Committee really did ensure that conservation had its right place in primacy in the national parks. Indeed, the only reason why the Broads Authority was set up as a statutory authority was entirely because navigation needed to be dealt with in a special and separate way. I actually believe in the early days, whilst that was not being wholly successful, the Authority, through its membership and through its intention to the points that were being made to it by the Navigation Authority, was certainly reasonably true. I think there are a number of points made in Mr Kilner’s letter, apart from that one about the national park and the National Park Authority 

   2039.  CHAIRMAN: Mr Williams, there is nothing I can see in your petition about the national park name, so possibly we should move on to something which is in your petition.  

   2040.  MR WILLIAMS: Sir, I am very happy to move on if your Lordships direct me.  

   2041.  CHAIRMAN: I am only suggesting that we should be considering what is in your petition and I do not see anything your petition - perhaps if I am wrong you could refer me to it - which talks about this.  

   2042.  MR WILLIAMS: No, it is talking about the management of the organisation. If you wish me to cease, if I make this final point, I will leave it entirely.

   2043.  CHAIRMAN: That might be useful.

   2044.  MR WILLIAMS: The final point I would like to make from this letter, you will see that Mr Kilner tells Dr Packman that our position has not changed since the exchanges we had in 2002 at meetings between Alun Michael and your authority in November 2002 and March 2003 which led to the compromise that the Broads could call itself a national park family but could not call itself a national park or a national park authority.  I draw this to your attention, my Lords, merely to point out that this means at the time when the Broads Authority were promoting this as a Broads National Park Bill, they had had discussions with Defra and they could not do this. I will leave that point there, my Lords. 

   2045.   If you could turn over to the final page, I would like to say there was a question about the definition of the ‘master’ and, indeed, I took it up in the House of Commons and I do believe the response I got at that time dealt with that issue, but they do ask whether they thought it was appropriate for the short title and whether the authority was still considering giving up its harbour authority status. You, my Lords, are being asked not the question about whether they would give it up but to give them powers which are, indeed, quite a long way beyond the powers which exist under the 1988 Act. 

   2046.  One of the items which was in the Bill was in relation to the introduction of the Boat Safety Scheme. I would like to invite you to turn to tab two now where you can see there is a broadsheet which is a publication used. Can I say, my Lords, for the time I was at the Authority I have to say, I have got no real documentation of any consequence.  Once I had left the Authority, I went back to sea and continued my career and did not have anything more to do with it, except to enjoy the sailing on the Broads.  However, what you can see here is the Boat Safety Scheme was launched at the boat show in January 1993. It was as a result of a coming together of the NRA, the Broads Authority and British Waterways. What had happened was the NRA on the River Thames had introduced byelaws because there were quite a lot of petrol launches on the Thames and the incidents of fires and explosions on the Thames was really quite high, so they changed their byelaws to include a set of provisions which were intended for safety on the waterways.  What happened, however, was that people on the Thames then began to say, “Hang on a minute, look at all these canal boats coming in from Oxford, coming from Teddington and so on and they don’t have any rules at all”. I might say that British Waterways were not averse to this at all, they agreed they would set up a discussion to see whether they could establish a scheme that would be common to both. 

   2047.  I was invited to attend a National Hire Boat Federation meeting at that time and was asked whether I felt this was something that would be useful for the Broads. I felt at that time for a number of reasons there were good cases for bringing in the Boat Safety Scheme. It was not popular in some areas, but the potential benefits for the cost and the effort were really quite small.  We were aware that we were going to have a major problem in converting lots of very independent boat owners to the idea that they should have more regulation. At the same time as this was going on, something else was happening as far as recreational craft were concerned.  That something was that boat builders in the United Kingdom, especially those who specialised in expensive craft were concerned, they did not have access to the markets particularly in the Mediterranean because those countries had rules which mitigated against their sails. 

   2048.  The DTI, at a time when all sorts of Directives were being discussed, put forward the proposal for the introduction of this Recreational Craft Directive and the way in which it could work. I will come back to the Recreational Craft Directive because it has an impact later on in my statement. 

   2049.  Whilst we were talking at the level of the inland navigation authorities about this, the reason why I was content with it was because the equipment, the style of boat and the operation on the canals, the Thames and on the Broads was not dissimilar, they have the same kind of equipment, the same engines and so all, all the same reasons why safety should be dealt with in a common way. It also meant that for people who were on any of these navigations the boats were transferable. From my point of view, an additional bonus was going to be if the others adopted it, we were not going to end up with all the sailors on the Broads, because that would have been most undesirable. 

   2050.  We were in a situation where we were promoting this Bill and you can see from the document that the intention was to introduce these safety standards through our registration byelaws, which, of course, we had to produce as new byelaws because we were a new authority. That was in progress. We were very close to presenting this and, indeed, British Waterways and the NRA introduced it. 

   2051.  If you would like to turn over to tab two, you will see the Boat Safety Scheme.  We guess you also recognise the logo now.  This was produced to complement a paper and it shows there quite clearly British Waterways, the Broads Authority and NRA are collectively responsible for the majority of inland navigation on the waters of England, Wales and Scotland.  This draft EEC Directive was different from ours and we ended up in a discussion with the European Parliament through DoE and the Department for Transport in order to ensure the EEC draft Directive was not very different from the ones that we were producing ourselves.  We were invited to put forward a list of essential requirements, those things that we wanted to have to see as safety elements on our waterways and that was what we were to base our Boat Safety Scheme on and we did. 

   2052.  The Boat Safety Scheme was produced not just in the context of its relationship to our own waterways but to complement so far as possible the Recreational Craft Directive. 

   2053.  I would like to take you to tab three now. You will see from the points that I made, I left the Authority and went back to sea but at the meeting of the Broads Authority Navigation Committee on 23 March 1993 an additional public meeting was going to be held to discuss the boat safety standards and it was going to be extended for a further period and that a number of objections had been raised at public consultation meetings and they felt that they should further consult with bodies representing owners of particular characteristics. The point I want to make here, if I may, is in paragraphs four and five. Because the Broads Authority are now saying what they want are powers not just to implement the Boat Safety Scheme, they want powers to implement something else. Every time something else comes up they want to be able to introduce it.  

   2054.  CHAIRMAN: Mr Williams, you said tab three which is about speed limits and making waves, I am lost.  

   2055.  MR WILLIAMS: I am terribly sorry, your Lordship, it is tab two, page three. 

   2056.  CHAIRMAN: Please continue.  

   2057.  MR WILLIAMS: What the Broads Authority are asking for you to give them are powers to extend the Boat Safety Scheme, only in terms of whatever the Boat Safety Scheme is but to extend the Boat Safety Scheme whenever they want to.  I would contend that is not what was agreed in the first place, but also would like to point out that here the Broads Authority were asking that if the Department for Transport were able to confirm the draft registration byelaws, which would include the Boat Safety Scheme in their current form, that is with a general power to make regulations, there was no need to redraft or amend the registration byelaws.  However, if the Department for Transport was unwilling to confirm the draft registration byelaws with that general power but wanted the incorporation of the Boat Safety Standards, those sections of the draft byelaws dealing with this matter be withdrawn. The question of regulations concerning the construction, equipment and maintenance of vessels and the prevention of pollution and excessive noise be dealt with in separate byelaws to be made at a later date. 

   2058.  Byelaws: it is possible to produce byelaws - tab 2, page 4 - for prescribing purposes of safety, prevention of pollution, excessive noise conditions in respect of construction, equipment and maintenance in the 1988 Act.  I merely point that out to you because what is actually being asked in this Bill is for something which the Department for Transport would not give to the Authority in 1993.  I would ask why you think it should be different now. 

   2059.  Indeed, if you turn to tab 2, page 5, I made an enquiry about this in 2006. If I may just explain for a quick moment.  The Bill came up out of an accident which occurred on the river. Up until that time I was only concerned as a private citizen sailing, to be honest, but I did ask when I got a copy of the Bill.  The representations were made as well, it is not just us who wants this, it is actually the Department for Transport, so I asked the Department for Transport and this is the response I got.  First of all the Department had not insisted on the Broads Authority promoting a private Bill, the current Bill contains many of the provisions including the name.  On the byelaws issue, what we said to the Authority was if it wished to use byelaws to introduce the Boat Safety Scheme in the manner they proposed, that was with a general power to extend it whenever they wanted, they do not have the legal powers and they would have to get them, but it would be possible for the Broads Authority to introduce a Boat Safety Scheme through the byelaw route but not the more flexible scheme that they desire. 

   2060.  If I may ask you now to turn to the Broads Authority byelaws book. This is tab 5.  I merely wish to point out that the Broads Authority introduced the Boat Safety Standards through byelaws in 2006. My Lords, that was 13 years after they said they would make byelaws at a later date. 

   2061.  I would like to take you on to tab number 10. In the Broads Authority’s bundle of documents, my Lords, in tab 10, appendix 3, we saw the other day when I was doing examination that I expressed concern about the powers of authorities which were being delegated. Powers to me, the Navigation Officer has got powers but in the Broads Authority we seem to have delegated those powers right down through the system so that everybody is enabled to put them forward.  I did question the issue of why the speed limit byelaws were not included on this particular document, and I believe I got the answer that they were covered in the navigation byelaws by something called “safe speed”.  Safe speed is not what the speed limit byelaws are about.  The speed limit byelaws, my Lords, are about reducing the speed of boats on the rivers in order to help prevent riverbank erosion, so the question of whether enforcing the speed limits is about safety is another issue again.  Indeed, I would say that enforcing the speed limit byelaws was quite important from an environmental point of view and was something which was strongly supported by all members and all parts of the Broads community.

   2062.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Williams, could you tell the Committee where this is in your Petition?

   2063.  MR WILLIAMS:  My Lord, this is about the management of the Authority.  In tab 3, page 2, of this particular section you will see that I have printed out a section of the international collision regulations and, if you look at the Broads Authority navigation byelaws that we were referring to, I have quoted the safe speed regulation from the International Regulations for Preventing Collisions at Sea, and you will see that the definition there is, “Any vessel must proceed at a safe speed”.  It may be safe to proceed at five knots, six knots, seven knots or eight knots, but you would not do it on the Broads because there are speed limit byelaws which prevent you from doing that.  It is byelaw number 9, which is on page 6, but if you open the book up so that you can see the section which refers to steering and navigational conduct in the navigation byelaws, it says, “Safe speed.  The master of a vessel should ensure that at all times it is navigated at such a speed that it can take proper and effective action to avoid collision and be stopped within a distance appropriate to the prevailing circumstances and conditions”.  The Steering and Sailing Rules that I have just quoted you are the 1972 Steering and Sailing Rules.  What the Broads Authority have done is take the old rule and written in the text of what was the old rule and called it “safe speed”, and if I am not mistaken the title of a byelaw is not part of the byelaw, so rule 9 does not even talk about safe speed under those circumstances.  Indeed, if you turn to the final page in tab 3, this is the way in which the Broads Authority wrote this rule initially with the words “safe speed” in it and it has been removed.  I mention that point particularly -----

   2064.  CHAIRMAN:  We have a division.  The Committee is adjourned for ten minutes.

The Committee suspended from 3.59 pm until 4.08 pm for a division in the House
   2065.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Williams, perhaps you would like to continue.

   2066.  MR WILLIAMS:  If I may, my Lord, I would just like to mention as a consequence of this particular issue that there may even be a question of whether people who have been prosecuted for speed limit infringements might or might not have used this as a defence.

   2067.  I am going to continue on the same line, my Lords, if I may, of dealing with some of the technicalities, and if you will permit me towards the end of my statement I will round up and try and explain why I see these things as being issues which your Lordships really should consider in the treatment of this Bill.

   2068.  CHAIRMAN:  Provided it is in the Petition that is fine.

   2069.  MR WILLIAMS:  I would like if I may to invite you to turn over now to tab 4.  My Lords, when this Bill was being presented the introduction of the Boat Safety Scheme and the requirements as a result of the accident of the Breakaway 5, which was mentioned by the Promoters in their submission, was one of the reasons for the Bill.  If I may I would like to explain something about the accident which occurred.  The first thing I would like to point out is what the Breakaway 5 actually looked like.  These are all extracts from the Marine Accident Investigation Board report.  They are not things that I have taken from anywhere else.  Here is a picture of the Breakaway 5, and it had been operating as a day boat on the Broads at the time of the accident with a capacity of ten.  In fact, on the maker’s plate the capacity of this hull was said to be 12.  Most day boats on the Broads are open cockpit with a small cuddy(?) on the for’ard end in which the helmsman and the controls are situated, and some of them even had these plastic garden seats as a sort of seating arrangement, which was not terribly satisfactory.  The Breakaway 5 was being operated as a day boat.  It was introduced by a company in Wroxham and it was a bit of an innovation.  It was a different style of boat from one which had been introduced by someone else, where the whole of the roof of the boat went back so that on a sunny day everybody was sitting in the boat with the sun roof open and it was just like being in the outdoors and they were able to enjoy the Broads.  When the weather got bad you shut the roof, you did not get wet and you were able to be comfortable inside and still see.  You can see from the windows on the Breakaway 5 that that option was probably not a reasonable one to expect if you were going out in this boat in anything other than good weather.  In the stern there is a small cockpit area with seating around it which allows people to sit out in the sun.  The sloping deck at the for’ard end is where most of the people on the day of this accident ended up.  They were all sitting or standing up there.  In fact, one person, according to the report, was standing on the guard rail and rocking the boat.  It is quite within the bounds of reason that people would venture up there in the normal course of events unless there was some reason why they should not, but there was a reason why they should not and that was this: that this Falcon sports cruiser-type deck -----

   2070.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Williams, what is the point that you are trying to make here in relation to your Petition?

   2071.  MR WILLIAMS:  The point I am trying to make, my Lord Chairman, is that the powers that are being sought by the Authority are related to remedying a situation which occurred when this boat capsized.

   2072.  CHAIRMAN:  I do not think we need to go into too much detail.

   2073.  MR WILLIAMS:  I am terribly sorry, my Lord Chairman, if you think that is the case because I think it is quite germane to the point I am trying to make here.

   2074.  CHAIRMAN:  We can read the Marine Accident Investigation Branch report that you have kindly given us.  It is useful.

   2075.  MR WILLIAMS:  But, my Lord Chairman, I have to tell you that there are a number of things in that accident investigation report that I would like to draw to the attention of the Committee, the first one of which, my Lord, is the fact that when the accident happened within a very short space of time the Authority, which at this time had no powers to deal with the licensing of power boats (and I will come back to that in a minute because it is part of the Petition process), said that this had occurred because people were overweight.  There was, in fact, according to the MAIB report, an issue about the fact that the average weight of the people on this boat was higher than that which is used for testing.  The point I would like to make, my Lord, is this, that the people who were situated on the top of the cabin on the upper deck in the destabilising situation were not overweight; their weight was just below the weight which is normally used for assessing the stability of boats, and I think that is significant because it demonstrates that it was not the weight of the loading that was the problem; it was where the people were sitting on the boat.  That is the first point and that does come out in the extracts I have provided from the MAIB report, but it is only part of the story.

   2076.  When we come to look at the competence of everybody involved in this we find that the boat builder had put this top on a different hull and no stability test took place.  He was the safety man on the Broads Hire Boat Federation committee, so he did not know. I  have to say that the reaction following this accident by the company that had this boat was extremely prompt and resolved the problems which had been created.

   2077.  If you do not want to go through all of these things, my Lords, I would just like to bring you to tab 4, page 11, because you will not find this in the MAIB report, it is simple stability stuff.  When a ship or a boat is floating upright the centre of buoyancy is going directly upwards.  The weight of gravity of the boat is downwards.  As long as the boat is upright it is in a condition of stability.  When it gets heeled over, whether it is heeled by a wave, whether it is heeled by these people standing on the side of the boat or whatever, provided it is stable what will happen is that the centre of buoyancy will move over to the low side of the vessel and it will create what is called a righting lever, which is shown here as GZ, and that righting lever will force the vessel back up into an upright condition.  However, at some point on a vessel which has poor stability it will reach a situation where, when it is heeled, it will fall over to one side until it reaches the point of neutral stability where the buoyancy counteracts the power of gravity.  However, there is a fourth condition, which I have shown here.  You can see on the fourth diagram that the heel is an unstable condition, that the weight of gravity is now much higher than it was on any of these other diagrams, and the effect of the buoyancy pushing upwards and the weight of the people up higher means that, instead of the boat being righted by the stability, what actually happens is that it goes over, and it will either go over until the two lines become in line if the line of thrust of the buoyancy moves far enough over or, if it does not, it will capsize, and the Breakaway 5 capsized.

   2078.  CHAIRMAN:  Just for clarification, Mr Williams, these last two pages, 11 and 12, are produced by you?

   2079.  MR WILLIAMS:  11 was a diagram I produced, merely to explain the functions of stability on a boat, and it was also to help you to understand page 12.

   2080.  CHAIRMAN:  It is very helpful.  I just wanted to know who the author was; that is all.

   2081.  MR WILLIAMS:  I have just described the GZ, which is the righting lever curve, and if you look at page 12 what you will see is that when the Breakaway 5 was in an unloaded condition the GZ lever followed the line that is shown in red.  In other words, you can see that the angle of heel is the X axis and the righting lever, the GZ lever, is the Y axis, and at zero on all of these pictures, as I have shown on the diagram before, when the boat is upright there is no GZ lever because the forces are acting equally and opposite.  When this boat was unloaded it had a very good and very positive increase in the GZ lever right up to the point where it reached an angle of 30 degrees, after which it began to sink back.  The reason it then started to go up the other way was that once it has reached the down flooding point where the water is running into the boat, it does not turn over; it sinks.  You can see that that was quite an acceptable curve, and indeed, the way in which the system worked in terms of the Recreational Craft Directive, that boat would be acceptable.

   2082.  This is why I come back to use.  What happens here, if you look at the condition several minutes before the boat capsized, is that because of the impact of the people on the upper deck you will see that in an upright position the GZ lever was minus, and because it was minus what you had there was a capsizing moment, not a righting moment.  That capsizing moment meant that the boat would lie over until it reached neutral buoyancy at an angle of heel of about eight or ten degrees, after which it would become positive and the vessel would have come upright.  At the moment of capsize, because of the weights on this vessels, you can see that the GZ never reached a positive condition, so once those people had got up on the deck on that boat it was doomed.  In fact, there may even have been a situation where one of the people, in an endeavour to help by going up the side where it was higher, actually did the opposite, because all he was doing was increasing the height of the G and making the capsizing/righting lever even worse.

   2083.  My Lords, I will leave you to look at that except to say that in the evidence that was presented by the Promoters they said that this vessel had not been seen to be rocked, and actually the MAIB report does not say that.  It says that this boat not only was seen to be rocked on that day but it was reported, and that this boat had been known to rock on previous occasions.  In fact, you can tell that what we have here is a boat that was not fit for the purpose to which it was being put, and so, my Lords, I am really pointing out to you that the people who would have been able to do something about this were the rangers of the Broads Authority if they had known what they needed to know about the stability of craft.

   2084.  I think it is worthwhile, my Lords, just pointing out one other thing from these papers.  If you would like to look at tab 4, page 6, remembering, please, that the Broads Authority had no powers to deal with this issue, the recommendations included this one, that the MCA is recommended to develop within 15 months – this is a report that was written in 2004 – a national code for the safe practice for boats on hire on inland waterways.  The MCA and the British Standards Institute were jointly recommended to raise the issue of the validity of using 75 kilos.  I read that there was an issue about 75 kilos.  What I am saying to you is the issue of 75 kilos was not the determining factor in this accident and that the MCA was recommended to review the stability tests.

   2085.  My Lord, you have left me with a slight problem now.  I have extracted particular parts of this to present to you and you seem to be content to read it through, so I will leave it there, but I would like if I may to recommend to you that the whole of this issue does raise questions not only about the way in which the management was taking place but also about the whole arrangement for the licensing of hire boats, which the Bill seeks to address, I have to say, but I would like you to take this into account as well.

   2086.  One of the points that is written in this report is shown at page 4, and it is about previous accidents.  My Lords, the Sandpiper was overloaded when she was on the River Avon in July 1989.  This was whilst I was at the Broads Authority.  She capsized and she had 14 people on board, ten of whom were sitting on the cabin top at the time of the capsize.  In other words, this was a situation that was analogous to the one that you have just read about.

   2087.  What I would like to point out to you is this: that at that time British Waterways did not examine the stability of its vessels and there were recommendations made at the time.  Now I was in consultation with British Waterways during the process of negotiating the Boat Safety Scheme, and I have to tell you, my Lord, that as a consequence of that I came back to the Broads with the intention of doing something about it because we had the same problem.  We had boats that were being let for hire, were leaving the Centre, taking extra passengers on board as they went off down the river and were sometimes overlooked because they were the kind of picnic boat that I have described; it was a problem of loading; it was not really a serious problem of stability. 

   2088.  However, I went to the solicitor and I said: “We have this problem, what are we going to do about it?”  And the response I got was: “Do not go there because if you look in the Broads Act you will find nothing about the licensing of hire boats in here at all”, so I went to the chief executive and said:  “I think there is a problem, this is the kind of accident that has occurred, I would like to do something about it”. 

   2089.  I was told:  “Well, the Act has just been brought in, we had a lot of difficulty in creating the Act, and you cannot expect to start changing it right away like this”, and this is 1989, the time just after the Act came in.

   2090.  So what I did, my Lords, was I rang up a few of the boat owners, the boat operators, and actually asked them what they thought about what I had said, about the Sandpiper and so on, whether they were aware of it, and eventually we set up an informal meeting in one of the major places which was Wroxham, and we got an agreement with the boat operators.  What we would do, in order to ensure the fact that people were aware of how many people the boats could carry, is we would put a number on the outside of the boats indicating the maximum capacity of the craft.  It was not an Act of Parliament: I did not have one.  What I had was a group of people who understood the problem they were faced with.

   2091.  I have not got the documents, as I said, but it is a matter of record in the Broads Authority that we set up this Boat Users’ Association, and we established this process of putting it in a handover note and also marking the boats with the numbers that should be on board, and I have to say sometimes it was quite a lively debate because there were commercial implications of whether my boat should carry seven and yours should carry eight, but in the end we got a consensus and we set it up and all the boats were marked.

   2092.  CHAIRMAN:  Mr Williams, we have heard evidence about this before and I am sure the Committee thinks it is good, but where is this leading us?

   2093.  MR WILLIAMS:  Well, merely that I asked the Waterways director last week, sir, whether they still had the boats marked with their numbers, and the answer that she gave me was “No, because we do not have the powers.”

   2094.  CHAIRMAN:  Well, we will come back to that, I am sure.

   2095.  MR WILLIAMS:  So far as that is concerned, I would like to add as a final footnote, sir, that this accident happened in 2003, and the marine accident ‑ it is what interested me and what came after because I have no interest at all, but the marine accident investigation inspector rang me up and asked me if he could come and talk to me about this particular accident.  So there are a number of things that came out of this, sir, and I think the question of licensing and so on is really of great importance.  It should have been dealt with a long time ago and has remained, until we had an accident, untouched, and I do not think that is the way to run a navigation at all.

   2096.  If you would not mind going to tab 5, now, what you will see here is that North Norfolk District Council do have a system for the licensing of hire boats now.  

   2097.  If I could just explain, going back a little bit, here we were in a navigation, by everybody’s account the third largest in the country, a new navigation authority had been instituted, and there were the district councils that bordered the authority, all of whom had the powers to introduce licensing of craft, and the County Council, who had powers as a trading standards organisation, also should have been involved in the way in which these things were organised, yet in the 1989 Act there was no reference at all to the licensing of hire craft, and I can ask you if you would not be surprised that in a navigation of this size such an omission was allowed to occur.

   2098.  What happened in the Broads Bill in its first draft was that the Broads Authority said:  “We are the navigation authority, we are going to take over these things when the Bill comes in, and the councils are not going to do it.”

   2099.  However, North Norfolk were the people who were the district council in the area where the boat was based which had the accident, and they indeed have already instituted a licensing system for hire boats, and this is covered in tab 5 of my Petition.  You will see the boat licence specifies the number of persons in 1, it talks about the licences, about how many people must be allowed to go, when they are allowed to go, and in the guidance notes on page 2 of that tab you will see the definition of a dayboat, what the licence conditions are, including the certification which includes an insurance certificate, a boat safety certificate and, where necessary, includes a Corgi gas certificate.  

   2100.  In tab 5, page 3, there is a whole section about boat loading and stability.  This is stable doors, but all the same it is here.  The application for the licence has to specify the maximum weight and number of people they consider it can carry, and the maximum loading weight will normally be taken from the manufacture’s recommendation for the vessel or the boat concerned, and when a stability test has been undertaken for the category of vessel that will be seen as a Class issue.

   2101.  I think that tab 5, page 4, is probably the important one, where it says:  “The handover procedure documentation should be completed accordingly to reflect these additional factors and any deviation from the number of persons specified on the licence plate.  In no circumstances should the maximum load weight be exceeded”.  So, despite everything else, provided the stability is right that will not be a problem.

   2102.  It is put down, however, to the experience and knowledge of the inspector.

   2103.  LORD OXBURGH:  Could I just ask, from what you have said earlier, the additional element is the distribution of the load? 

   2104.  MR WILLIAMS:  Yes, absolutely.  

   2105.  LORD OXBURGH:  That is not referred to at all here? 

   2106.  MR WILLIAMS:  No, except insofar as stability tests have to be undertaken.  You see, there was no stability test undertaken on the Breakaway 5. 

   2107.  LORD OXBURGH:  But is a stability test undertaken with what one might describe, I suppose lightly, as an absurd distribution of load, which is what happened in the case of the Broads accident?

   2108.  MR WILLIAMS:  I think the whole question of the distribution of the load depends upon the design of the boat, and that is up to the inspector to assess when he is doing the stability testing.

   2109.  LORD OXBURGH:  So he would not accept a boat which had a location at the front where people could sit or stand if that was likely to prejudice the stability?

   2110.  MR WILLIAMS:  Yes.

   2111.  However, if I could just finish this particular item about this accident, this boat had been in operation for a number of years.  It seems quite unlikely that there had not been conditions of this nature that had existed before ‑ not as serious, undoubtedly ‑ because the boat itself, as you can see from the diagrams, was not adequately stable for the conditions that could be expected on board, and you will actually see that in the report itself.  In fact, because I am talking about the consequences of this action which was actually on tab 4, page 9, referring to acts of an independent assessment, which you have just mentioned, my Lord, it says down at the bottom, on 263, “The Breakaway was a markedly different style from its forerunners.  Accordingly, it is difficult to see how scrutiny of this boat by a suitably qualified person could have failed to question the validity of the previous experience with this hull.  The optimistic expectation that customers would remain in their seats and the irregularities in the boat’s technical and owner’s manual when considering its fitness for purpose and the lack of requirement for such scrutiny was a significant omission”. 

   2112.  So the questions that I think descend from this point is that we are now five, nearly six years on from this accident, and what we have is an authority coming to Parliament to seek powers to do this when, indeed, they could have done other things which would have given them a short‑term, easy remedy when, in fact, what they have done is nothing. 

   2113.  My Lords, I am going to move from that particular issue which I think I have dealt with to the best of my ability, I think you will see that I am questioning quite a number of issues at that point, but the Department for Transport, through their agency at the Maritime and Coastguard Agency, are responsible for the safety issues, and by and large I believe they do a reasonable job but I have been concerned that the separation of the two parts of the operation of the Department for Transport has meant that the two parts have become so remote from each other that there may be occasions when the legislature and the operation of the safety machinery do not always totally tally.

   2114.  CHAIRMAN:  Can you just remind the Committee which two parts of the Department for Transport you are talking about?

   2115.  MR WILLIAMS:  The Shipping and Ports Division, the Inland Waters Division and the Maritime and Coastguards Agency Safety and Inland Waterways Sections.

   2116.  CHAIRMAN:  How is that related to your Petition?

   2117.  MR WILLIAMS:  It is an observation, my Lord.  If you wish to strike it from the record, I will be content.

   2118.  The sort of thing that arises here comes out in this sort of way.  When you look at tab 6 you will see that I have actually taken the preamble of the heading from the Port Marine Safety Code - and I might just make the point here that it is a code.  The Department and the MCA do operate a lot of their legislative and their management oversight of matters by the use of codes.  That does not mean to say that the code is an optional issue; it is meant to be the framework by which assessment can take place.

   2119.  What it does is supposedly introduces a national standard for every aspect of port marine safety for ships, cargoes, passengers and the environment, and I have to say that nowadays any port has to operate with very careful concern regarding the requirements of their operations in relation to the environment, not only through the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Bill, but the Environment Act and various other pieces of legislation.

Port operations, however, always bring the possibility of environmental damage, and some of the harbours have a greater impact as a consequence of this than others.  I think about places like Milford Haven, which I talked about in cross‑examining last week.  The situation in Milford Haven is that they are dealing with up to 300,000‑400,000 tonne tankers carrying oil and we saw what happened when the Sea Empress sank. 

   2120.  CHAIRMAN: Mr Williams, the Sea Empress is a completely different thing. It happened outside Milford Haven, although probably within the Milford Haven area, but how does this Port Marine Safety Code particularly relate to your Petition, please?  

   2121.  MR WILLIAMS:  The Port Marine Safety Code particularly relates to my Petition in relation to the way in which the Broads Authority have been treating it. 

   2122.  CHAIRMAN: Could you explain that then, please?

   2123.  MR WILLIAMS:  Yes, Sir.  I was going to explain the duties and powers and what the Code is for, Sir ‑‑‑

   2124.  CHAIRMAN:  I think the Committee is well aware of the Port Marine Safety Code, thank you very much.

   2125.  MR WILLIAMS:  That is fine, Sir, thank you very much.  When you turn to the top of the next page it does say that the Code is not intended to be optional.  It is written to apply to all ports and it applies to the Broads as well.  Part of the issue that comes with the responsibilities and duties of the Port Marine Safety Code is the introduction, among other things, of a Safety Management System.  I think I will accept what the Committee says, my Lord, that everybody aware of it, so I will move on, if I may.  

   2126.  CHAIRMAN:  Please do because I do not see the Safety Management System mentioned in your Petition either.  

   2127.  MR WILLIAMS:  Do you not think that that has something to do with the management of a port, Sir?

   2128.  CHAIRMAN:  A bit, yes, but we have the document and, as I say, please relate it to your Petition.  

   2129.  MR WILLIAMS:  What I was going to do then, Sir, if I may, we were given some papers this morning about the control of Breydon Water.  I was not actually in the Committee room when they were handed out but it refers to extracts from the Great Yarmouth Port Authority Act 1990 and shows that general directions to vessels were given to the Port of Great Yarmouth Authority in 1990.  

   2130.  CHAIRMAN: Are we moving to the subject of general directions now? 

   2131.  MR WILLIAMS:  We are moving towards the subject of general directions, the basic principles of which are set out in the Port Marine Safety Code, and indeed in the Marine Navigation Code, which you obviously did not want us to take up so I will leave that. 

   2132.  CHAIRMAN: We are going to leave that to one side. 

   2133.  MR WILLIAMS:  I will leave it to one side.  It says here that the Great Yarmouth Port Authority Act of 1990, as opposed to the Norfolk and Suffolk Broads Act 1988, gives powers of general directions.  The Broads Authority Act of 1988 did not give any powers of general directions.  I would ask you to consider why it might be that there were no general directions in the Broads Act.  I would suggest that the provisions which are being sought under the control of Breydon Water are adequately covered under the directions for regulating vessels in the Act which gives the harbour master the power to give directions for all other purposes, including the one which the Broads Authority say it wants the power of general directions for.  

   2134.  On the same issue in relation to the Port Marine Safety Code, I would just like to say that the harbour authority should have effective arrangements to publish appropriate hydrographic information.  This is an obligation under the Port Marine Safety Code, if you do not mind my coming back to that, including not only the charts but supplementary information including warnings on recently identified navigational hazards.  

   2135.  CHAIRMAN: Mr Williams, we are going to have to adjourn in a few minutes.  Is this a convenient point to stop and invite you to come back?  

   2136.  MR WILLIAMS:  It will only take me about half an hour, Sir.

   2137.  CHAIRMAN: I am sorry, we announced this morning ‑‑‑

   2138.  MR WILLIAMS:  I do know that but what I meant was that for your convenience of understanding, my Lord, that the time of the Committee that I will take up on Wednesday morning will be not excessive.

   2139.  CHAIRMAN:  That is very helpful, Mr Williams.  We will reconvene at 10.30 am on Wednesday morning and let you carry on with your statement, but in the meantime the Committee is adjourned. 

The Committee adjourned at 4.51 pm until 10.30 am on Wednesday 28 January
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